
Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where
individuals, communities and businesses flourish

Corporate Parenting Committee

The meeting will be held at 7.00 pm on 6 December 2017

Committee Room 1, Civic Offices, New Road, Grays, Essex, RM17 6SL

Membership:

Councillors Sue MacPherson (Chair), Bukky Okunade (Vice-Chair), Chris Baker, 
Jan Baker, Leslie Gamester, Martin Kerin, Joycelyn Redsell and Aaron Watkins

Natalie Carter, Thurrock Open Door Representative
Christina Day, Children in Care Council
Jackie Howell, Chair, The One Team, Foster Carer Association
Sharon Smith, Vice Chair, The One Team, Foster Carer Association

Substitutes:

Councillors Tony Fish, Ben Maney and Kevin Wheeler

Agenda

Open to Public and Press

Page

1  Apologies for Absence 

2  Minutes 5 - 12

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the Corporate 
Parenting Committee meeting held on 6 September 2017.

3  Items of Urgent Business

To receive additional items that the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency, in accordance with Section 100B 
(4) (b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

4  Declaration of Interests 



5  Children in Care Council Update

This is to be a verbal update. 

6  Children's Social Care Performance 13 - 24

7  Pilot Development of Head Start Housing for Care Leavers & 
Vulnerable Young People 

25 - 32

8  Children Looked After Placement Commissioning 33 - 38

9  Information on Recent External Placements for Young People 39 - 46

10  Annual Fostering Report  April 2016 - March 2017 47 - 76

11  The Annual Report of the Virtual School Headteacher for 
Children Looked After - Academic Year 2016-2017 

77 - 130

12  Corporate Parenting Committee Work Programme 131 - 132

Queries regarding this Agenda or notification of apologies:

Please contact Kenna-Victoria Martin, Senior Democratic Services Officer by 
sending an email to Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Agenda published on: 28 November 2017



Information for members of the public and councillors

Access to Information and Meetings

Members of the public can attend all meetings of the council and its committees and 
have the right to see the agenda, which will be published no later than 5 working days 
before the meeting, and minutes once they are published.

Recording of meetings

This meeting may be recorded for transmission and publication on the Council's 
website. At the start of the meeting the Chair will confirm if all or part of the meeting is 
to be recorded.
Members of the public not wishing any speech or address to be recorded for 
publication to the Internet should contact Democratic Services to discuss any 
concerns.
If you have any queries regarding this, please contact Democratic Services at 
Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Guidelines on filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings

The council welcomes the filming, photography, recording and use of social media at 
council and committee meetings as a means of reporting on its proceedings because 
it helps to make the council more transparent and accountable to its local 
communities.
If you wish to film or photograph the proceedings of a meeting and have any special 
requirements or are intending to bring in large equipment please contact the 
Communications Team at CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk before the 
meeting. The Chair of the meeting will then be consulted and their agreement sought 
to any specific request made.
Where members of the public use a laptop, tablet device, smart phone or similar 
devices to use social media, make recordings or take photographs these devices 
must be set to ‘silent’ mode to avoid interrupting proceedings of the council or 
committee.
The use of flash photography or additional lighting may be allowed provided it has 
been discussed prior to the meeting and agreement reached to ensure that it will not 
disrupt proceedings.
The Chair of the meeting may terminate or suspend filming, photography, recording 
and use of social media if any of these activities, in their opinion, are disrupting 
proceedings at the meeting.

Page 1

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk
mailto:CommunicationsTeam@thurrock.gov.uk


Thurrock Council Wi-Fi

Wi-Fi is available throughout the Civic Offices. You can access Wi-Fi on your device 
by simply turning on the Wi-Fi on your laptop, Smartphone or tablet.

 You should connect to TBC-CIVIC

 Enter the password Thurrock to connect to/join the Wi-Fi network.

 A Terms & Conditions page should appear and you have to accept these before 
you can begin using Wi-Fi. Some devices require you to access your browser to 
bring up the Terms & Conditions page, which you must accept.

The ICT department can offer support for council owned devices only.

Evacuation Procedures

In the case of an emergency, you should evacuate the building using the nearest 
available exit and congregate at the assembly point at Kings Walk.

How to view this agenda on a tablet device

You can view the agenda on your iPad, Android Device or Blackberry 
Playbook with the free modern.gov app.

Members of the Council should ensure that their device is sufficiently charged, 
although a limited number of charging points will be available in Members Services.

To view any “exempt” information that may be included on the agenda for this 
meeting, Councillors should:

 Access the modern.gov app
 Enter your username and password

Page 2

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB
http://appworld.blackberry.com/webstore/content/26429152/?lang=en&countrycode=GB


DECLARING INTERESTS FLOWCHART – QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF

Breaching those parts identified as a pecuniary interest is potentially a criminal offence

Helpful Reminders for Members

 Is your register of interests up to date? 
 In particular have you declared to the Monitoring Officer all disclosable pecuniary interests? 
 Have you checked the register to ensure that they have been recorded correctly? 

When should you declare an interest at a meeting?

 What matters are being discussed at the meeting? (including Council, Cabinet, 
Committees, Subs, Joint Committees and Joint Subs); or 

 If you are a Cabinet Member making decisions other than in Cabinet what matter is 
before you for single member decision?

Does the business to be transacted at the meeting 
 relate to; or 
 likely to affect 

any of your registered interests and in particular any of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interests? 

Disclosable Pecuniary Interests shall include your interests or those of:

 your spouse or civil partner’s
 a person you are living with as husband/ wife
 a person you are living with as if you were civil partners

where you are aware that this other person has the interest.

A detailed description of a disclosable pecuniary interest is included in the Members Code of Conduct at Chapter 7 of 
the Constitution. Please seek advice from the Monitoring Officer about disclosable pecuniary interests.

What is a Non-Pecuniary interest? – this is an interest which is not pecuniary (as defined) but is nonetheless so  
significant that a member of the public with knowledge of the relevant facts, would reasonably regard to be so significant 
that it would materially impact upon your judgement of the public interest.

If the Interest is not entered in the register and is not the subject of a 
pending notification you must within 28 days notify the Monitoring Officer 
of the interest for inclusion in the register 

Unless you have received dispensation upon previous 
application from the Monitoring Officer, you must:
- Not participate or participate further in any discussion of 

the matter at a meeting; 
- Not participate in any vote or further vote taken at the 

meeting; and
- leave the room while the item is being considered/voted 

upon
If you are a Cabinet Member you may make arrangements for 
the matter to be dealt with by a third person but take no further 
steps

If the interest is not already in the register you must 
(unless the interest has been agreed by the Monitoring 

Officer to be sensitive) disclose the existence and nature 
of the interest to the meeting

Declare the nature and extent of your interest including enough 
detail to allow a member of the public to understand its nature

Non- pecuniaryPecuniary

You may participate and vote in the usual 
way but you should seek advice on 
Predetermination and Bias from the 

Monitoring Officer.

Page 3



Vision: Thurrock: A place of opportunity, enterprise and excellence, where individuals, 
communities and businesses flourish.

To achieve our vision, we have identified five strategic priorities:

1. Create a great place for learning and opportunity

 Ensure that every place of learning is rated “Good” or better

 Raise levels of aspiration and attainment so that residents can take advantage of 
local job opportunities

 Support families to give children the best possible start in life

2. Encourage and promote job creation and economic prosperity

 Promote Thurrock and encourage inward investment to enable and sustain growth

 Support business and develop the local skilled workforce they require

 Work with partners to secure improved infrastructure and built environment

3. Build pride, responsibility and respect 

 Create welcoming, safe, and resilient communities which value fairness

 Work in partnership with communities to help them take responsibility for shaping 
their quality of life 

 Empower residents through choice and independence to improve their health and 
well-being

4. Improve health and well-being

 Ensure people stay healthy longer, adding years to life and life to years 

 Reduce inequalities in health and well-being and safeguard the most vulnerable 
people with timely intervention and care accessed closer to home

 Enhance quality of life through improved housing, employment and opportunity

5. Promote and protect our clean and green environment 

 Enhance access to Thurrock's river frontage, cultural assets and leisure 
opportunities

 Promote Thurrock's natural environment and biodiversity 

 Inspire high quality design and standards in our buildings and public space

Page 4



Minutes of the Meeting of the Corporate Parenting Committee held on 6 
September 2017 at 7.00 pm

Present: Councillors Bukky Okunade (Vice-Chair), Chris Baker, 
Jan Baker, Leslie Gamester, Martin Kerin and Joycelyn Redsell

Natalie Carter, Thurrock Open Door Representative
Jackie Howell, Chair, The One Team, Foster Carer Association
Joseph Kaley , Children in Care Council

Apologies: Councillors Sue MacPherson (Chair), Christina Day and 
Sharon Smith

In attendance: Rory Patterson, Corporate Director of Children’s Services
Sheila Murphy, Assistant Director Care and Targeted Outcomes 
Paul Coke, Service Manager for Children and Families
Andrew Osei, Service Manager for Placements 
Paula Gregory, Designated Nurse for Looked after Children  
Thurrock CCG
Keeley Pullen, Headteacher of the Virtual School for Children 
Looked After
Kenna-Victoria Martin, Senior Democratic Services Officer  

Before the start of the Meeting, all present were advised that the meeting may be 
filmed and was being recorded, with the audio recording to be made available on 
the Council’s website.

1. Minutes 

The Minutes of the Corporate Parenting Committee held on the 9 March 2017 
were approved as a correct record.

2. Items of Urgent Business 

Councillor Okunade, Vice-Chair of the Committee, informed Members she 
had allowed an item of urgent business and invited the Corporate Director of 
Children’s Services to present the report. 

The Corporate Director of Children’s Services addressed Members advising 
them at a previous meeting it was agreed that the Committee should receive 
regular performance data. He commented that it was important that Members 
of the Committee were aware of the performance of the service as it enabled 
them to challenge officers and to ensure they were aware of what was 
happening. 

The key issues were highlighted to Members in that: 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 Thurrock had one of the highest rates of Looked after Children in 
the eastern region. The borough had seen a rise in the number of 
Looked after Children to 350 plus during the last year; however that 
had since reduced to 320.  This was particularly down to the 
reduction if unaccompanied asylum seeker children, which were 
now under 40 from 103, due to the work on the Easter Region 
transfer Protocol and the work Officers had completed within the 
eastern region.  It was commented that the council would be at their 
expected rate  for unaccompanied children  by September 2018. 

 There was an underlining pressure in the high volume of Care 
Proceedings, which were taking place. In particular the number of 
young children and babies coming into the care system had risen. 

 93% of Looked after Children reviews had been completed on time. 
This included the difficulty of completing reviews on time for older 
children and unaccompanied asylum seeker children. The 
Corporate Director of Children’s Services assured the Committee 
that all statutory reviews had been completed. 

 12 adoptions had been completed this year and officers were 
hopeful that more would be completed. It was explained that a full 
report on adoptions would be reported to the Committee later in 
year. 

 Members were notified that the Council were increase recruitment 
for Foster cares in the borough.  

The Vice-Chair enquired as to performance regarding return interviews for 
children missing from placements.  The Assistant Director of Children 
Services advised that Open Door had been commissioned to undertake these 
interviews and there was a procedure in place.  There was room for 
improvement and data around the levels of children for whom interviews were 
carried out would be provided to Members in future.

Councillor Kerin asked why there was a gap between the number of 
placements in-borough and outside of the borough, and what steps were 
being taken to continue to improve.  The Committee heard that it was 
important to place as many children as possible within Thurrock to allow 
access to Thurrock schools and services.  Local placements also reduced the 
need for social workers to spend precious time travelling outside of the 
borough for visits.  A continuous rise in unaccompanied asylum seekers had 
contributed to the increase in placements outside of the borough, usually 
semi-independent placements in London.  This had begun to shift but a key 
development was the recruitment of local carers which enabled more children 
to be placed locally.  There was more to be done.  

Councillor Kerin asked when an update might be received and it was 
confirmed that a report would be presented at each Committee meeting 
outlining the data but a report describing the work to date, trends in data and 
progress could also be presented either in December or March.  

Page 6



RESOLVED: 

Members of the Corporate Parenting Committee noted the update.

3. Declaration of Interests 

Councillor Kerin declared a non-pecuniary interest in that his wife worked in a 
Local Authority School.

4. The Annual Report of the Virtual School Headteacher for Children 
Looked After - Academic Year 2015-2016 

The Headteacher of the Virtual School for Children Looked After introduced 
the report which detailed the provisional outcomes for all pupils in the Virtual 
School cohort for the academic year 2015-2016 and the ratified data which 
had been recently provided by the DFE Statistical First Release, highlighting 
the attainment of pupils place in care for longer than 1 year.

Councillor Kerin was pleased to see  the Progress 8 score and asked whether 
the current cohort was on course to improve the figures.  The data provided 
was for the 2016 cohort.  The 2017 cohort had achieved better but the DFE 
had not yet provided the measures.  The guidance for schools document 
advised that it would be difficult to gauge what their Progress 8 score would 
be and the DFE were not looking to make firm predictions until 2019.  The 
year 11 GCSEs had been very impressive,20% of the entire cohort attained 5 
A-C, having been in care for a year of more.  There were only 25 pupils 
moving from year 10 into year 11, preliminary predictions were that their 
results might not be quite as good as this year’s due to the nature of the 
cases.

The Vice-Chair asked for clarification around the discrepancy in figures in 
section 3.2.4 of the report.  Members heard that 2 students attended special 
needs schools and therefore did not participate in the KS2 SAT.  2 children 
had not been in care for more than one year and therefore did not meet the 
criteria for the DFE return.

The Vice-Chair queried section 4.4 of the report which implied that Children 
Looked After could not cope with attainment 8 and why the council did  not 
have the same aspiration.  Members heard that not all students would be 
entered for 8 GCSEs therefore could not achieve Progress 8.  Schools only 
entered pupils for subjects where they were confident a pupil would obtain a 
grade, timetables were tailored to ensure the best outcomes.  The Service 
would continue to push for  higher achievement but was cautious  as they did 
not want to dishearten pupils.  Vocational subjects and B-Techs did not qualify 
as a GCSE result.  The Vice-Chair felt that the blanket statement was too 
generalised and it was wrong to imply that Children Looked After could not 
cope.

Councillor Kerin asked whether there were any schools where more or less 
Looked After Children were entered for 8 GCSEs.  Looked After Children 

Page 7



were quite widespread across the borough but generally those in mainstream 
schools had a better chance of obtaining progress 8 than those in alternative 
provision, however the key aim was to provide the best outcomes for post-16 
pathways.  There were varying other factors to influence these figures but 
mainstream schools on the whole aimed to achieve Progress 8.

Councillor Kerin asked for a breakdown  of  the data to see how Looked After 
Children were progressing in line with national averages and the difference 
between mainstream schools and alternative provisions.  It was outlined that 
any such data would be highly contextual and it would be hard to compare 
given the measures used.

The Service Manager for Permanence for  added that as a Local Authority 
and a Corporate Parent Thurrock had clear aspirations for its children, 
individually and as a whole.  Thurrock was working with agencies to challenge 
and push all Thurrock’s young people and Looked After Children.

Councillor Watkins referred to page 38 of the agenda and the fact that 83% of 
Looked After Children in Year 11 attended provision outside of the borough.  
He asked whether these were also living outside of the borough or commuting 
to school, and how much communication there was with those schools and 
relevant Local Authorities.  Members were advised that, from last year’s data, 
those pupils in out of borough schools were also in out of borough 
placements; where possible pupils were kept in a Thurrock School.  Those out 
of borough schools were visited once a term and Local Authorities were 
contacted if needs be such as in the case of  education health and care plans.  
Students’ attendance was monitored regardless where they were placed but 
the biggest challenge the service faced was visiting children placed outside of 
the borough if they refused to attend. Face to face contact was more difficult 
but the service was aware and addressed issues accordingly.

The Vice-Chair asked for more information regarding the governing body.  
The Governing body had been put in place the previous academic year to 
improve lines of accountability.  The Governing body provided a 
complementary reporting mechanism allowing the service to focus on Looked 
After Children and areas which needed development.

RESOLVED: 

1. The Corporate Parenting Committee notes the verified DFE outcomes 
of the summer 2016 tests and examinations and comments the pupils, 
their schools and parents/carers on their achievements.  In particular, 
that Thurrock CLA has performed above national CLA performance 
indicators in all areas.

2. The Corporate Parenting Committee approves the Annual Report of 
the Virtual School Headteacher for the academic year 2015-2016 and 
uses this information to acknowledge, evaluate and if appropriate, 
challenge the services that are provided for all CLA.

Page 8



5. Health of Looked After Children 

The Designated Nurse for Looked after Children of Thurrock’s CCG presented 
the report which updated Members of the Committee on the national and local 
data regarding the health status of Thurrock’s Looked after Children. It was 
further explained that the report focused on new initiatives and developments 
to improve health outcomes for Thurrock’s Looked after Children.   

She continued to comment on the demographic of Looked after Children 
placed outside of the Borough, which could at times impact on the health 
needs of Children as it meant relying on other Local Authorities to complete 
health assessments and this made it difficult to meet statutory deadlines. It 
was confirmed that the process was monitored on a regular basis by not only 
the Local Authority but also the provider organisation and the CCG.

Members were notified of the improvement work undertaken around the 
strength and difficulties questionnaire. The Designated Nurse for Looked after 
Children of Thurrock’s CCG explained there was a Looked After Children 
Steering Group, which met monthly, to discuss those children who had a high 
strength and difficulties questionnaire score. The Looked After Children 
Steering Group met to ensure there was a clear plan of care for those children 
and to monitor them closely.   

The Committee heard that GP involvement had been highlighted by the CQC, 
following which there was now a form for GPs to complete before a health 
assessment. It was explained that GPs held a lot of information and so they 
were now being incorporated into the assessments. 

Councillor Kerin thanked officers for the report and the work they were doing. 
He commented that it appeared the work was harder to complete with children 
who were placed outside of the Borough. He queried how much of an impact 
it had on the workload of officers compared to Children living in Thurrock.  It 
was agreed that it made it more difficult; however there were robust 
notification systems in place, with a weekly Looked After Children list from the 
Local Authority. As soon as a child was moved to outside of the borough, the 
team would contact the Looked After Children team at the Authority where 
they are based. Along with a health assessment which was to be completed 
by the relevant team, communication across all parties was kept to a high 
level. 

The Service Manager for Placements commented that there was a cohort of 
Children who were settled in their placements outside of Thurrock and to 
move them back in the borough was not an option. He further stated that the 
planning behind placements was important and that children should only be 
placed out of borough when it was truly necessary.  

Councillor Gamester asked if, in some cases children were placed hundreds 
of miles away from their local area, was it also the responsibility of that Local 
Authority as to their care. Officers confirmed the process was to share the 
details with the Looked After Children team in the area they were living, it 

Page 9



would also be up to them to complete all of the health assessments although 
this would be funded by Thurrock.  She explained that if it were in the best 
interest of the child that a member of the health team from Thurrock was to go 
out to complete a visit then this would be done. It was confirmed that officers 
from Thurrock had complete oversight of all their children, regardless of where 
they were placed; this included quality checking assessments.  

Councillor Watkins sought confirmation of GP contributions to the health 
assessments process. He asked how often they were routinely requested to 
supply information prior to a child being seen for their health assessment.  
The Designated Nurse for Looked after Children of Thurrock’s CCG explained 
they would be asked to complete the form ahead of each assessment and the 
information provided by GP would inform the person undertaking the 
assessment of, recent GP attendances, medication and or if any, concerns. 

The Chair of the One Team, Foster Carer Association enquired as to why, for 
the yearly health assessment, GPs were requested to complete a form prior to 
the assessment instead of speaking to the Foster carers as they should know 
all about the children who are in their care. It was advised that not all children 
were in foster placements and it was felt it was important to receive such 
information from the GPs. It was explained that it was a recommendation of 
the CQC to include GPs, as the primary record holder into the health 
assessment process. 

RESOLVED: 

The Members of the Corporate Parenting Committee note this report.

6. Information on Recent External Placements for Young People 

The Service Manager for Families and Children introduced the report which 
provided Members with an update on a range of issues regarding the 
placement choices made for Looked After Children.

Councillor Redsell asked if any 16-18 year olds were staying with their foster 
carers.  There were around 5 young people in the Council’s ‘Staying Put’ 
Policy, staying with foster carers.  There were clear, robust plans around that 
to assist young people through transition into their own accommodation.

It was enquired if the Council was doing anything to help 16-18 years to stay 
with their foster carers as it was difficult for young people to find their own 
accommodation.  It was explained there was no expectation for young people 
to leave care at 16 years old; it was made clear that the expectation was for 
young people, if possible, to stay in their placements until they were 18 years 
old. 

Officers continued to explain that between the ages of 16 and 17 young 
people were shown and taught the independent skills they would need to live 
on their own.  Members were further notified that the council had supported 
accommodation at Clarence Road which would be used to assist with the 

Page 10



transition from foster care to living on their own. It was highlighted that there 
was an in-house policy with the Housing Department, under which any child 
leaving care was guaranteed their own accommodation.

RESOLVED: 

That the members of the Corporate Parenting Committee review the 
efforts made by officers to choose appropriate placement resources for 
looked after children.

The Chair thanked the Service Manager for Families and Children for his hard 
work for the Looked After Children in the Borough as he was due to be 
leaving the Council in the next month.

7. Work Programme 

The Committee discussed the work programme for the municipal year. 

RESOLVED:

That the following items be included on the work programme: 

• Annual Report – December 2017
• Out of Borough Placements – March 2018
• Children in Care Council Presentation – December 2017 & March 

2018
• Performance Update – Every meeting

The meeting finished at 8.40 pm

Approved as a true and correct record

CHAIR

DATE

Any queries regarding these Minutes, please contact
Democratic Services at Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk

Page 11

mailto:Direct.Democracy@thurrock.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



6 December 2017 ITEM: 6

Corporate Parenting Committee

Children’s Social Care Performance
Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Non-key

Report of: 
Sheila Murphy, Assistant Director, Children’s Care & Targeted Outcomes

Accountable Assistant Director: 
Sheila Murphy, Assistant Director, Children’s Care & Targeted Outcomes

Accountable Director: 
Rory Patterson, Corporate Director of Children’s Services

This report is Public

Executive Summary

Thurrock has experienced a high level of demand placed on its statutory social care 
service for children. Considerable work has been undertaken by the department in 
managing this demand through improving its early intervention service and 
managing the front door (MASH) more effectively. There has been a reduction in the 
number contacts being converted into referrals; easing the demand pressure of 
children becoming looked after and children being placed on a child protection plan.

The number of children becoming looked after has reduced and this is explained by 
a reduction in new cases coming into the system and more cases being closed than 
the previous year. Children on a child protection plan has also seen a reduction in 
new cases but the number being closed is lower than previous year, in turn the child 
protection rate has only slightly reduced.    

An area of focus is care leavers in education, employment and training. Performance 
has reduced since April 2017. Work is being undertaken to improve this position for 
the next quarter. 

Three children have been adopted in year to date, however a number of children are 
in the process of being adopted. The department is aiming to have at least 11 
children adopted by March 2017.

Page 13

Agenda Item 6



1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 Corporate Parenting Committee to note a newly introduced performance 
management framework by the Director of Children Services following 
Ofsted’s recommendation.

1.2 Corporate Parenting Committee to note:

• Areas of improvement in Children’s social care.
• Work undertaken to manage demand for statutory social care 

services. 
• Highlight areas of further investigation for deep dive studies.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 This report provides a summary of children’s social care performance. It 
highlights key demand indicators such as number of Looked After Children, 
trend analyses, benchmarking data and key performance indicators.  

3. Looked After Children (LAC)

Total number of Looked After Children (LAC) at 30/09/2017 313
– Number of Looked After Children per 10,000 child population 74.7
– Number of LAC that are Unaccompanied Asylum-Seeking 

Children
36

3.1 The total number of looked after children at 30th September 2017 was 313 
compared to 353 at 30th September 2016. The number of LAC has fallen by 
40 and for the same period our number of UASC has fallen by 56.

3.2 The graph below shows the rate of LAC per month since April 2017 compared 
to previous years. The rate of LAC has reduced from 86.3 in Sep 16 to 74.7 in 
Sep 17.  This is still above the latest national rate for LAC (at 31/03/2017) of 
62 per 10,000 and statistical neighbours at 66 per 10,000.

Page 14



Chart 1

3.3 The chart below shows the number of children entering and exiting as LAC. In 
September 2017 we had 98 new children for the financial year that were 
looked after, in comparison to the previous year where we had 113 children 
that became looked after. This is a reduction of 15 new cases. We have 
exited 15 more cases this year, compared to the same period last year. A total 
of 105 have left care year to date, in comparison to 90 last year.

Chart 2

3.4 The graph below shows how our rates of UASC have been reducing. Our 
current rate is 8.6 compared to 22.5 in September last year.

Page 15



Chart 3

4. LAC Placements

4.1 The number of Looked After Children at the end of September who are under 
16 and have been LAC for 30 months or more was 95. Out of these 95 
children, 71% have been in long term placements compared to 67% for the 
same period in 2016. As at September 2017, 67% of Thurrock’s LAC 
population were aged below 16. 

125 of the 313 looked after children are currently placed in Thurrock. There 
has been a focus to increase the percentage of placements within Thurrock. 
The current position of 40%  is an improvement compared to the same period 
last year where 32% where placed in borough.  

5. LAC Reviews

Total number of LAC Reviews expected between 1st April  2017 
and 31st July 2017 157

– Percentage of LAC reviews completed on time 93%

5.1 Thurrock had 157 LAC Reviews scheduled between 1st April 2017 and 31st 
July 2017 of which 146 were completed in time. There has been progress 
made in relation to LAC reviews being completed on time which has 
increased to 93% from 80% at the same point last year, due to a significant 

Long term stability 
Percentage of children Under 16 for more than 2.5 years and in 
current placement for at least 2 years 71%

Percentage of placements that are In Borough 40%
Percentage of placements that are Out of Borough 60%

Page 16



spike in Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers at that time. The service continues 
to strive to ensure all reviews are completed within timescales.

Page 17



6. Missing Looked After Children

Total number of Looked After Children (LAC) 313
– Percentage of children who went missing from placement in 

September 2017 2%

6.1 At the end of Sep 2017 there were 6 cases of children going missing from 
their placement and at the same point in 2016 we had 2 cases, representing 
an increase of 4 children recorded as missing from placement. The increase 
in recording of missing episodes is a result of better recording practices and 
training being delivered to carers and social workers.

7. Care Leaver Status and Accommodation

7.1 The % of care leavers in Education Employment or Training is 67.2%, which 
is a decrease from April 2017 where 75% were in EET.

Status Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep
EET (%) 75.0 73.0 71.4 73.1 70.2 67.2
NEET (%) 25.0 21.6 21.4 16.7 18.1 19.0
Unknown (%) 0.0 2.7 3.6 3.8 4.3 5.2
Missing Data (%) 0.0 2.7 3.6 6.4 7.4 8.6

8. Care Applications

8.1 Whilst regional and national aggregated rates follow similar trends, Thurrock 
exhibits two spikes in applications, in 12/13 and 16/17, and a drop off, in 
14/15. 

Chart 4

Page 18



Comparison between the current and previous year show a net increase of 4 
care applications for the same period (36 increasing to 40 this year).

Q1 16/17 Q2 16/17 Q1 17/18 Q2  17/18
Thurrock 14 22 19 21

2016-17 2017-18

9. Child Protection

Total number of children on a Child Protection Plan at 30/09/2017 277
– Number on a Child Protection Plan per 10,000 child 

population
– Number on a Child Protection Plan for the second or 

subsequent time

67

21

9.1 The current rate of children on a Child Protection Plan (CP Plan) is 67 per 
10,000 population of children in Thurrock. This is significantly higher than the 
2016 national average of 43 and statistical neighbour average of 51 per 
10,000 children. However the rate has reduced in comparison to the same 
period last year (Sep 16: 69 to Sep 17:67). Further work has been carried out 
and it is anticipated that October and November figures will show a further 
decrease. The number of children who are on a child protection plan for a 
second or subsequent time has reduced from 24 to 21 (compared to the same 
period last year).

9.2 The graph below shows the rate of Child Protection Plans which has 
remained steady since April 2017.

Chart 5

9.3 The graph below shows the number of Child Protection plans started per 
month. Year to date figure shows 127 child protection plans that were started 
in comparison to 152 last year. This is a reduction of 25 child protection plans. 

Page 19



The number of children ceasing to be subject to a child protection plan year to 
date is 125. This is less than the 158 for the same period last year.

Chart 6

10. Child Protection Plan Reviews

Total number of Child Protection Plan’s reviewed in year to 
September 2017 323

– Percentage of Child Protection Plan’s reviewed on time 96.7%

10.1 38 Child Protection Plans were reviewed in September with 1 falling out of 
timescale. This was due to no quorum as professionals were unavailable for 
the meeting.

10.2 The highest proportion of children on a Child Protection Plan at 30th 
September 2017 was within 6-11 months. We have reduced the amount of 
children on a Child Protection Plan for 2 to 3 years and currently have only 1 
child falling within this timescale. We no longer have any children on a plan for 
more than 3 years.

11. Adoption

Number of adoptions between 1st April 2017 and 30th September 
2017

3

11.1 Six children are placed with adopters, and it is expected that the families will 
complete the adoption process by the end of financial year. Furthermore, 
three children are matched with prospective adopters but are waiting to move 
in with their permanent families due to legal challenges. It is anticipated that 

Page 20



the legal challenges will conclude by February so that the children will move in 
with their adopters this financial year. Concurrency is gradually becoming 
embedded in our care planning. Currently three children are in concurrent 
placements, which means the child’s potential adopters are their current 
carers pending the outcome of court decisions. Our projection for end of year 
adoption is still 11 with the proviso that the legal challenges would be 
concluded by end of November. However there are issues in relation to non-
availability of judges which are affecting timescales for concluding court 
cases. If these cases are not concluded by end of November, 9 children 
would be adopted this financial year. Six other children initially projected for 
this financial year are already delayed for 6 months and their cases will not 
conclude until February /March due to non-availability of Judges.  

11.2 We continue to sustain the improvements in our timeliness. The DFE target is 
426 and national average is 18 months (547 days) for this indicator source 
Department of Education – Children looked after in England (including 
adoption) year ending 31 March 2016.

Average number of days between court agreeing adoption and 
local authority approving a match in year to September 2017 46

11.3 The DFE target is 121 days. The current performance, though impressive, is 
likely to change significantly by the end of the financial year due to legal 
challenges on a number of Placement Orders.  (POs)

Total number of approved foster carers 92
- Mainstream carers 75
- Connected Person carers 5
- Temporarily-approved carers 10
- Shared Care carers 2 

Total number of in-house foster placements occupied  129
- Number of children placed in-house

(including Shared Care and Connected People)
 123

- Number of care leavers on Staying Put Agreements  6

12. Reasons for Recommendation

12.1 Continuous performance improvements, along with the safeguarding of 
children are a core part of Thurrock Children Social Care service delivery.

Thus, and in light of the abovementioned increases in service demands on the 
Authority’s statutory social care service for children, and the consequent 

Average number of days between child entering care and child 
moving in with adoptive family 425

(taken over a rolling 3 year period up to 30th September 2017)

Page 21



successful Council’s efforts to improve its services through early intervention 
service and management of front door (Mash), the Corporate Parenting 
Committee is invited to: note and comment on current performance position, 
and, if applicable, indicate further deep-dive revisions for areas deemed of 
primary focus. 

13. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

• None

14. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

• None

15. Implications

15.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Nilufa Begum
Management Accountant 

No financial implications

15.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks
Principal Solicitor Safeguarding

No legal implications

15.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Becky Price
Community and Development Officer

Whilst there are no direct implications arising from this report, efficient 
performance monitoring includes consideration of equality data to ensure the 
needs children supported are understood and met

15.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

• None

Page 22



16. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

• Various, including: Council internal system database (Liguidlogic 
Childern System) and Statutory returns submissions to the 
Department of Education.

17. Appendices to the report

• None

Report Author:

Sheila Murphy
Assistant Director
Children’s Care & Targeted Outcomes

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



6 December 2017  ITEM: 7

Corporate Parenting Committee

Pilot Development of Head Start Housing for Care Leavers & 
Vulnerable Young People
Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: 
Michele Lucas, Strategic Lead, Learning & Skills 

Accountable Assistant Director: 
Sheila Murphy, Assistant Director, Children’s Care & Targeted Outcomes

Accountable Directors: 
Rory Patterson, Corporate Director of Children’s Services 
Roger Harris, Corporate Director of Adults, Housing & Health

This report is Public

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report sets out how Thurrock Council is looking to support young people who are 
leaving care and other vulnerable young people with one of the key barriers they have 
identified, finding suitable affordable accommodation.

To address this Inspire have worked in partnership with Thurrock’s Housing Department 
and have undertaken a pilot around the development of Head Start Housing for Care 
Leavers and other vulnerable young by developing two (HMO’s) house of multiple 
occupancy. This pilot scheme has been developed to support our role as the Corporate 
Parent a number of housing issues that young people have identified as they moved into 
adulthood have been addressed have been resolved by the development of this scheme.

Since the inception of this scheme the council has saved more than £66,000 this is made 
up of a combination of out of borough placements, supported accommodation and social 
housing. By year end March 2018 savings across the financial year are forecast at 
£84,000.

The following are quotes from young people who have benefitted to date from the 
scheme.

“This scheme is so needed in Thurrock and [the pilot] should be extended so that more 
young people stand a chance of developing independence and success at work. “ HT

Page 25

Agenda Item 7



“Before the HMO, I was sharing a caravan in Ockendon with my two brothers.
It was very cramped; I would hit my head on the door frames.  People often judged me 
for living where I did, expecting a type of behaviour before getting to know me. Of course 
this affected my view of the world/them and not in a good way.  Now my work life balance 
is good.  My work is going well – I am in a permanent post, in a job that I enjoy and get 
on well with my colleagues.  I get on well with the other tenants, I like sharing the space 
with the others.  We help each other out – car rides, lending and borrowing our things, 
making repairs, sometimes cooking for each other  I enjoy spending time with my family 
now! We have improved the property and made it our own.  We have good relationships 
with the neighbours; they have donated garden chairs and tools. At some point, I will 
invite them round for a BBQ. I no longer feel judged.  I can relax and be me, in my 
home.”

JW

1. Recommendations

1.1 To note and provide comments on the pilot HMO and support the ongoing 
development of the programme to enable more properties to be available for 
the scheme

1.2 To support the development of a transitional housing scheme and would 
provide personalised support for young people as they enter the aftercare 
service.

1.3 To note and make comments on a more joint working approach between 
Social Care and Housing to improve the offer to care leavers.

2. Introduction and Background

Children’s Services have recognised the need to support our young people in 
relation to housing opportunities in March 2016 they developed a strategic 
partnership with housing. The purpose of the strategic partnership was to address 
some of the key barriers young people face in finding suitable accommodation at 
an affordable rate.

As a result of the partnership in June 2016, Housing launched its first house of 
multiple occupation (HMO). As part of a joint partnership between Housing and the 
Inspire Youth Hub, the HMO offers accommodation for up to two years to those 
who are receiving support from Inspire.  The main focus of the project is to support 
the tenants in developing the skills necessary so they are ready to work and live in 
local communities independently. This is support by strong pathway plans to 
independent living which look at moving on and budget management.

2.1 Safeguarding

Ensuring young people are safe is an essential part of the process of selection for 
the Head Start Housing opportunity. The selection process for the HMO is 
undertaken jointly between Inspire and Housing. We also provide a range of 
ongoing support opportunities for young people to ensure that we have the safety 

Page 26



of young people at the forefront of the project. We undertake regular meetings with 
tenants and provide both emotional and practical support around the transition into 
independent living. These meetings provide an opportunity for the Inspire team to 
review progress and identify any potential safeguarding concerns so as to ensure 
they are dealt with swiftly. Staff work closely with tenants to ensure that we 
mitigate for any risk associated with young people living together. If issues do 
arise they are discussed with the youth work team who look to identify resolutions 
– ensuring that young people have a voice around for example conflict resolution.

2.2 Eligibility Criteria

We have engaged with a range of young people and other professional colleagues 
to develop the criteria and as part of our ongoing development we review these on 
a regular basis.

To be eligible for accommodation, the occupants will:

 be aged between 18-25 years, 
 priority is given to young people who are in care of the local authority
 engaging in some form of education employment or training opportunity
 provide two references (one employment, one character (not a relative)
 have no criminal record for violence including sexual offences, arson, fraud 

or any drug related offences
 be eligible for social housing
 Agree to enter into a formal agreement with conditions for accessing 

training, personalised support and involvement in community activities.

The minimum term is 6 months; the maximum term is 24 months, unless there is a 
serious breach of the agreement.  On successful completion of the agreement, the 
young person is provided with advice and support from the housing team within 
the council to identify suitable accommodation.

Utilising the specialist support offered by Inspire/other agencies, tenants are 
helped to establish stability in their lives and develop their career and various skills 
such as money management, developing and maintaining effective relationships 
and the practicalities of independent living. Support is provided to successfully 
integrate new tenants to existing ‘house mates’. This support is part of the overall 
service that has been developed between Inspire and our Housing Department.

The Tenancy Management team supports the tenants through quarterly reviews, 
facilitating repairs and access to wider services. To make independent living as 
easy as possible, the tenants pay a service charge which covers their utility bills; 
this ensures continuous lighting, warmth, water etc which helps the tenants to 
focus on developing new skills. 

All tenants undertook a selection and interview process by the partnership, with 
the tenancy agreement being for a minimum of 6 months and a maximum of 2 
years. When the tenants give notice, they are supported to secure new 
accommodation; this will free up rooms in the HMO for new tenants. 

Page 27



As a result of early successes, in May 2017, Housing opened a second HMO to 
further test systems and processes for the pilot.  

2.3 Moving On

The scheme looks to move young people on from the scheme within 24 months. 
Reviews are undertaken at throughout the tenancy – to ensure that young people 
are aware of the moving on phase – we will begin preparation when they have 
been in the property for 18 months. This will be undertaken in joint review 
meetings with both Inspire and the Housing Team with the aim of ensuring that 
young people move on and maintain a secure tenancy when they leave the 
scheme. The moving on process also includes personal debt plans and how to 
manage money – this is based on feedback from the young people and the 
recognition that managing finances is one of the key challenges to a successful 
transition into the young person managing their own tenancies.

2.4 Outcomes to date:-

 2 houses, unused for over 2 years, have been converted into an HMO (1 x 
4 bedroom, 1 x 3 bedroom), to the required standard. 

 To date, 9 individuals, all employed/ full time education had unstable living 
arrangements have benefitted from the accommodation.

 All of the tenants have maintained their employment/education with the 
exception of one who has had a baby and benefitted from the ‘move on’ 
support (into social housing).  She recently passed her first quarterly 
review.

 One tenant successfully completed their apprenticeship and has started a 
teaching degree at London Metropolitan University. In the intervening 
period, she secured a part-time role as a LSA in a local primary school 
(maternity cover).   

 One tenant moved out of the accommodation because he could not 
maintain the rent account to his satisfaction.  He continues to receive 
support in this matter and, excepting the arrears, Housing described him as 
a model tenant.

 All of the individuals are supported by Inspire Youth Service and Housing to 
promote and encourage independent living, whilst developing a diverse 
range of skills.   

 Safeguarding tenants is extensive with regular contact by Inspire Youth 
Services (Employability and Skills, Youth Workers, After Care Workers, 
Next Steps team) as well as teams from Housing, namely Rents and 
Welfare, Registration, Estate Services, Repairs and Tenancy Services.  
Weekly meetings take place to review developments and external 
agencies, such as Vitality (smoking cessation), Step Change (debt 
management), Open Door (advocacy) are introduced, as required.

 Neighbours are happy with the tenant’s behaviour and have written 
compliments to Thurrock Council. 

 The net revenue of the properties has more than doubled by converting to 
an HMO. Conversion costs are recouped within one year.

 The tenants are paying 24% less than market rent for their accommodation.

Page 28



2.5 Early evaluation of how the scheme works:-

 All tenants view the property before making a commitment to the tenancy 
agreement.  

 Support provided by Inspire Youth Service, Housing has been useful for 
developing skills and confidence to successfully manage a home.

 Face to face support does not have to be so frequent (once a week for 6 
weeks, then every two weeks for 6 weeks, then once a month it can take 
various forms such as telephone calls, text messages and visits from other 
teams/support workers.

 The group sessions, used to resolve conflict, were unhelpful, however we 
have subsequently changed the focus and this has improved.

 The original four tenants believed they achieved/exceeded their 
expectations for independent living.

 The tenants feel their home is in a safe location and that they are part of the 
local community.

 The tenants are teaching each other useful, practical skills.

2.6 The Challenges

 To ensure that support for tenants is consistent between Tenancy 
Management and Inspire Youth Service.

 Building sufficient trust between the council and tenants so targeted support 
is effective.

 Effective communication between different directorates at the council, each 
with some competing priorities around outcomes. 

 Introducing new tenants with minimal disruption. 
 Promoting success without compromising the sensitivities of the pilot or the 

safety of the tenants.

2.7 Future Developments

As part of the ongoing commitment to identify ways in which we can reduce costs 
associated with placements we are exploring the potential to utilise more HMO’s 
and we would like to look at a focus on providing  transitional support to our young 
people in the care system who are 17 and will be moving into the aftercare team. 
This would provide an opportunity to reduce costs associated with semi-
independent living, and enable more focussed work to be undertaken around the 
transition into adulthood.

The potential to provide more affordable housing for young people under the Head 
Start Housing scheme is being explored – this would look to address some of the 
significant delays in finding suitable affordable housing for Thurrock’s young 
people.

3 Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

This report sets out a range of opportunities to address the issues around housing 
for young people in the care of the local authority – we have undertaken a pilot 

Page 29



programme to look at the potential ways in which we can develop this further – 
one of the key issues we are looking to address is the transitional housing 
requirements of young people and will continue to review the pilot HMO’s to 
identity ways in which this can be further imbedded in the Council’s housing 
strategy.

4 Reasons for Recommendations

To develop this pilot programme into the Council’s housing strategy and promote a 
more cohesive offer to care leavers around transitional housing opportunities. One 
of the key reasons for the recommendations is to create a range of housing 
solutions and thus address some of the significant budget pressures associated 
with providing housing for care leavers.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable) 

Children’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community impact

6.1 This report contributes to the following corporate priorities:

 create a great place for learning and opportunity 

7. Implications

7.1 Financial 

Implications verified by: Nilufa Begum
Management Accountant 

This report has no financial implications – however it has evidenced a reduction in 
costs incurred by our Leaving & Aftercare Team. 

7.2 Legal 

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks 
Principal Solicitor Safeguarding

The Committee is asked to note the report content under the remit of the 
Committee’s terms of reference and powers.  

7.3 Diversity and Equality 

Implications verified by: Rebecca Price
      Community and Development Officer

Supporting our young people is a key strategic priority for Thurrock Council, we 
ensure that we can utilise our powers to positively discriminate to create 
opportunities. We continue to seek the views of young people to shape the 

Page 30



programmes on offer and continue to utilise integrative partnerships to secure 
Brighter Futures.

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, Crime 
and Disorder)

 None

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location on the 
Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected by 
copyright):

 None

9. Appendices to the report

 None

Report Author:

Michele Lucas
Strategic Lead
Learning and Skills

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



6 December 2017 ITEM: 8

Corporate Parenting Committee

Children Looked After Placement Commissioning

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: 
Sue Green, Strategic Leader Children’s Commissioning and Service Transformation

Accountable Assistant Director: 
Sue Green, Strategic Leader Children’s Commissioning and Service Transformation

Accountable Director: 
Rory Patterson, Corporate Director of Children’s Services

This report is Public

Executive Summary

The provision of quality care through safe and stable placements for children and 
young people who are looked after is a key statutory function of all local authorities.  
In Thurrock this accommodation and associated support is provided through a range 
of providers on differing contractual arrangements and there is the opportunity to 
simplify this to continue to improve outcomes for children and young people while 
improving value for money.

A commissioning exercise that brings together the procurement of placements for 
children looked after is due to be presented to Cabinet in January 2018 for all types 
of placements including supported accommodation for 16- 25 year olds. This report 
sets out the rationale for a new approach which aims establish a mechanism to 
ensure that the best quality placements are commissioned and that more young 
people are placed in or near to the local authority area.

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 That Members consider the proposal to simplify and improve the 
commissioning of placement provision, in particular to withdraw from 
the current Eastern Regional contract when it ends in 2018.

1.2 That Members comment on the proposals for officers to proceed to 
Cabinet approval to commence a procurement exercise.  

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



2. Introduction and Background

2.1 Every local authority has a statutory duty to ensure there are sufficient 
placements of good quality for looked after children and young people, this 
includes the requirement to take steps that secure, so far as is reasonably 
practical, enough accommodation within the local authority area that meets 
the needs of children in the care of the local authority.

2.2 This report outlines the proposed exercise to ensure that the Council meets 
this duty. These plans will also help the Council better address one of the 
areas for improvement identified in our inspection of children's social care 
when it was noted that the majority of children in care were placed outside of 
Thurrock. This is a barrier for some children accessing the high quality school 
provision in the authority, and highly inefficient in terms of the use of 
resources including social work time.

2.3 The proposed procurement exercise will focus on three key aspects: quality, 
price and distance. All three aspects will be of importance but the weighting 
will be considered in the light of current need. For example, for supported 
accommodation as this is unregulated there is need to place a higher 
weighting on quality however the scoring will reflect the other two aspects to 
ensure these are secured.

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 The current annual commitment for placement provision is approximately 
£9.5m. This expenditure is across a range of providers including Independent 
Fostering Agencies, residential placements and supported accommodation. In 
addition there are a number of in-house foster carers, this type of provision is 
outside of the scope of this report however members will be aware that there 
are clear plans to increase the number of in- house carers. The number of 
care placements fluctuates daily due to children and young people entering 
and leaving the care system however there are currently 326 children and 
young people aged 0-18 years requiring placement provision. This provision is 
currently provided as follows:

Type of placement Number of children and young 
people

Independent Fostering Agencies 156
In house foster care* 97
Residential 24
Supported Accommodation 47
Mother and baby placement 2

*outside of the scope of this report

3.2 The majority of provision for children and young people aged 0-16 years is 
provided through Independent Fostering Agencies (IFA) largely procured 
through the regional framework arrangements. For young people aged 16-18 

Page 34



years the majority are accommodated through semi-independent provision to 
reflect the transition into adulthood.

3.3 There are currently a number of different commissioning arrangements in 
place with the largest being the regional arrangements for Independent Foster 
Care providers. Spot purchasing arrangements have also been used where 
specialist providers are required to meet individual children’s needs, where 
demand for a type of specialist provision is low or where there is a fluctuating 
demand that is difficult to predict such as for supported accommodation. 
Whilst any new commissioning arrangements need to maintain the flexibility of 
the current system, it is recognised that this can also be built into local 
contracts to minimise spot purchasing.

3.4 The different commissioning arrangements each come with different 
contractual and quality monitoring requirements that are both time consuming 
and difficult to moderate. The monitoring arrangements put in place locally for 
supported accommodation are working well and these were prioritised as this 
type of provision is not regulated by Ofsted. Officers have recognised that the 
implementation of a consistent monitoring process will strengthen the current 
arrangements and ensure that a consistent approach is taken across each 
type of provider. The current regional arrangements for Independent Fostering 
Agencies do not provide this consistent approach as monitoring is undertaken 
by a number of different local authorities. 

3.5 The main driver of any regional arrangement has been the purchasing power 
that this gives, however many Councils are now entering into sole contractual 
arrangements with a pricing structure that mirrors the regional one. As the 
regional arrangements for Independent Fostering Agencies are not always 
able to meet the bespoke needs of Thurrock children and do not have 
sufficient local providers there is a need to address this in any new 
procurement exercise, the current contract ends in 2018. The need to 
implement a consistent monitoring approach along with the need to stimulate 
the local market and increase local providers leads to the recommendation 
that in line with many Council’s in the region, we do not remain a part of the 
Eastern Region contract. The risks regarding pricing will be mitigated by the 
inclusion of a clear pricing structure in the procurement process. 

3.6  Residential placements are used where a child or young person has 
significant and specialist needs. These are the most expensive placement 
type to reflect the high level of support that is needed and currently all 
residential placements are spot purchased. Whilst this arrangement reflects 
the specialist nature of the provision and the limited number of providers for 
some specific needs there is an opportunity to improve how this is 
commissioned whilst recognising that it is likely that spot purchasing will also 
be needed in some cases.

3.7 The main consideration of any commissioning exercise will always be the 
quality of the provision for the child or young person however there is also 
scope to consider improving the value for money from the placements we 

Page 35



purchase through improved commissioning. Officers will always seek to obtain 
the best value for money however where placements are spot purchased 
rather than purchased within an agreed framework of pricing this does not 
always result in the best price. The proposed new procurement exercise will 
reduce the need to spot purchase whilst also bringing together different types 
of care through one procurement exercise. This will be managed by the use of 
different lots and will support providers who offer more than one type of care 
by reducing the number of tenders. It is recommended that we also maintain 
the flexibility to spot purchase in exceptional circumstances. 

3.8 The majority of provision for young people age 16-18 years in supported 
accommodation is secured through spot purchasing. As this provision is 
unregulated by Ofsted the monitoring arrangements have recently been 
reviewed to include more frequent visits and also finance checks. The use of 
a procurement framework will reduce the need for spot purchasing to 
emergency situations and set clear expectations for the standards expected. 
In addition moving away from spot purchasing should also improve value for 
money.  

3.9 For all placement types placements will be made following the criteria below:

 In Thurrock
 In a specific area
 Within 10 miles of Thurrock Council Civic Offices (RM17 6SL)
 Within 20 miles of Thurrock Council Civic Offices (RM17 6SL)
 Other locations

3.10 In developing the requirements we need providers to meet, we have 
consulted with young people currently in placements to ensure that their views 
of what is important are taken into account. The key areas they identified are 
shown below and will be included in the requirements for providers:  

 Trust
 Listening
 Structure
 Communication
 Helping
 Transparency
 Supporting
 Understanding
 Knowledge

3.12 If agreed, the procurement exercise will commence in January 2018 with new 
contractual arrangements in place from September 2018.

Page 36



4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 An overarching placement commissioning exercise is needed to ensure that 
provision is of the required quality and also provides good value for money 
with a reduction in the need for spot purchasing. This approach will also 
enable officers to develop the local market with the aim of securing more 
placements in or near the local area.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 The Children in Care Council have been involved and their views have been 
included in the specification for the procurement. Overview and Scrutiny were 
consulted in July 2017 and colleagues from other services such as School 
Improvement have been consulted with to ensure that the requirement for 
robust education offer is included in the requirements for providers. 

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

The recommendations included in this report will impact on the following 
corporate priorities:

 Create a great place for learning and opportunity
 Encourage and promote job creation and economic prosperity
 Build pride, responsibility and respect
 Improve health and well-being

7. Implications

7.1 Financial

Implications verified by: Nilufa Begum
Management Accountant 

The current spend on placement provision is one of the highest elements of 
expenditure in the Children’s Services Directorate. Improved commissioning 
will support the achievement of value for money whilst developing quality 
standards to meet children’s needs. 

7.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks
Principal Solicitor Children’s Safeguarding

Section 22G of the Children Act 1989 requires local authorities to take 
strategic action in respect of those children they look after and for whom it 
would be consistent with their welfare for them to be provided with 
accommodation within their local authority area, In those circumstances 

Page 37



section 22G required local authorities, so far as is reasonably practical to 
ensure that there is sufficient accommodation for those children that meets 
their needs and is within the local area.

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Rebecca Price
Community Development Officer

Ensuring that placement provision is of high quality will ensure that the 
diverse needs of children and young people are met, it will also ensure that 
there is equality of access. By involving young people in the development of 
specifications it will ensure their needs are understood and reflected in the 
placements procured to support them. 

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

 None

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 None

9. Appendices to the report

 None

Report Author:

Sue Green
Strategic Leader Children’s Commissioning and Service Transformation
Children’s Services Directorate

Page 38



6 December 2017 ITEM: 9

Corporate Parenting Committee

Information on Recent External Placements for Young 
People
Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Key

Report of: 
Andrews Osei, Service Manager, Family Placements

Accountable Assistant Director: 
Sheila Murphy, Assistant Director, Children’s Care and Targeted Outcomes 

Accountable Director: 
Rory Patterson, Corporate Director of Children’s Services

This report is Public

Executive Summary

This report updates members of the Committee on a range of issues regarding the 
placement choices made for looked after children

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 That the members of the Committee review the efforts made by officers 
to choose appropriate placement resources for looked after children.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 This report provides an overview of placement activities since July 2017 
including information on new external placements made and comments 
provided on a number of the presenting issues which influence decision 
making.

2.2 The numbers of looked after children in Thurrock is detailed in a comparative 
table below. This is a snapshot within the month, as the numbers will fluctuate 
as children/young people enter and cease being looked after throughout each 
month – Table 1:

Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
2017/
18

340 330 337 331 326 313

Page 39

Agenda Item 9



2016/
17

342 341 335 342 340 358 350 350 325 327 330 336

2015/
16

280 285 295 303 313 320 330 332 344 334 335 338

2.3 The following table shows the numbers of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking 
Children (UASC) that have become looked after during the financial year of 
2016/17 and 2017/18 – Table 2:

Apr May Jun July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
2017/18 51 50 45 42 42 36
2016/17 79 78 75 84 87 95 91 88 73 67 57 54

 
2.4      The comparative rates per 10,000 of the looked after population which the 

local authority benchmarks against is as follows:

 National Rate: 62 (2016/17)
 Statistical Neighbours: 66 (2016/17)
 Thurrock Rate: 74.7 (September 2017)

2.5 The comparative rates per 10,000 without the numbers of unaccompanied 
asylum seeking children for Thurrock are as follows:

 Thurrock Rate: 66 (September 2017)

2.6 The looked after children are in the following placements:

 Residential Children’s Homes – 21
 Parent & Child Residential Assessment Placement - 3
 Independent Fostering Agency Placements – 103 

o Parent & child placement – 5
 In – house Foster placements – 129

o Parent & child placement – 5
 16+ Supported Accommodation – 18 (excluding UAS)

Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children = 37

 Independent Fostering Agency Placements – 19
 In – house Foster placements – 5
 16+ Supported Accommodation – 13

3. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

3.1 We continue to focus on the use of in-house foster placements as opposed to 
independent fostering agencies through our recruitment programme.

3.2 In terms of our in-house fostering provision, our current performance as of 
August 2017 is as follows:

Page 40



 Number of new carers approved = 14 (11 mainstream & 3 connected)
 Number of mainstream fostering applications at various stages = 12
 Number of current fostering households = 92, which equates to a net 

increase of 11 this financial year
 Number of temporary approvals = 10
 Total number of in-house fostering spaces occupied = 129 (equates to 

123 looked after children & 6 Staying put young people)

3.3 Our use of residential placements has stabilised at 21since the last report in 
July 2017.

3.4 To date we have 36 UASC, which again continues to decrease in numbers. 
This is due to the Eastern Region Protocol and those young people reaching 
the age of 18.

3.5 The Department continue to be the recipients of new arrivals of UASC into the 
borough, which are then transferred to other local authorities under the 
Eastern Region Transfer Protocol System. 

3.6 The Department continues to monitor placements through the various multi-
disciplinary panels, such as the Placement and Accommodation Panel, which 
is chaired by the Assistant Director of Children’s Services, and the High Cost 
Placement Meeting, chaired by the Corporate Director of Children’s Services.

3.7 The Department is aware of the budgetary situation within the Council and 
work hard to provide placements that are fit for purpose and are cost effective. 
The Corporate Director and other senior managers are working closely with 
the Finance Department; ensuring placements are of good quality, that we get 
the best value from each placement and that we plan the transition of our 
young people when appropriate to accommodation that is suitable for their 
needs and age. 

4. Reasons for Recommendation

4.1 Members of the Committee to be informed on the issues in relation to external 
placements. Officers accept there is a very real challenge in balancing the 
need to find the best possible placement option for children and young 
people, whilst simultaneously working within the financial resources available.

5. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny, if applicable)

5.1 None 

6. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

6.1 None

Page 41



7. Implications 

7.1 Financial 

Verified by:  Nilufa Begum 
                    Management Accountant 

There are financial implications associated with external placement as it has a 
tendency to go up and down. However, finance is working closely with the 
service to analyse placements costing and review which would be best value 
for money.

7.2 Legal

Verified by: Lindsay Marks
Principal Solicitor Children’s Safeguarding

Section 22g Children Act 1989 requires local authorities to take steps that are 
reasonably practicable to secure sufficient accommodation for children under 
their care who cannot live at home and whose circumstances indicate that it 
would be in a child’s best interests to be accommodated within the local 
authority’s area ‘ for example in order for the child to stay at the same school 
or near to other family where contact can take place easily.  This duty has 
been clarified and reinforced by the issue of statutory guidance in 2010.

7.3 Diversity and Equality

Verified by: Rebecca Price
Community Development Officer

No Implications

7.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

 None

8. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 None

9. Appendices to the report

 CLA Profile Sheet 

Page 42



Report Author:

Andrews Osei
Service Manager, Family Placement
Children Social Care Services

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN PROFILE
This sheet provides a snapshot taken at 1st October 2017

NUMBER OF LOOKED AFTER CHILDREN GENDER

t 311 children: (38 are/were UASC) t Male: 196 (63%)

t Represents 0.74% Thurrock children; a rate of 74 per 10k t Female: 115 (37%)

AGE (In brackets % of all LAC) LEGAL STATUS

t age 0-4yrs: 48 (15%) t Interim care order: 56 (18%)

t age 5-11yrs: 78 (25%) t Care order: 178 (57%)

t age 12-16yrs: 143 (46%) t Single period of acc: 73 (23%)

t age 17yrs: 42 (14%) t Other: 4 (1%)

AGE (By Individual Year) PLACEMENT PROVIDER

Dark sections of bar shows asylum seeking Children. t Parents / person with parental responsibility: 6

t Local Authority provision: 124

t Other public provision: 0

t Private/Voluntary/Third Sector: 181

PLACEMENT LOCATION/DISTANCE

t Placed in Thurrock: 132

t Placed outside Thurrock: 179

t 217 within 20 miles (79%), 59 beyond 20 miles(21%)

ETHNICITY LENGTH OF TIME IN PLACEMENT

In brackets percentage of all LAC t 0-<1years: 154

t White British: 189 (61%) t 1-<2years: 68

t White Other: 20 (6%) t 2-<3years: 22

t Black/B British: 36 (12%) t 3-<4years: 16

t Asian/A British: 21 (7%) t 4-<5years: 21

t Mixed: 24 (8%) t 5+years: 30

t Other: 18 (6%)

t Unknown: 3 (1%) LENGTH OF TIME IN CARE

IMMIGRATION STATUS

t Discretionary leave to remain: 8 (3%)

t Refugee Status: 8 (3%)

t Unacc asylum seeking child: 27 (9%)

DISABLED CHILDREN

t Children recorded as disabled: 3 (1%)

PLACEMENTS NOT IN THURROCK

70

13 12 11 9 7 6 3 4 4 3 3 2 2 2 2 3 2 2 2 3 0 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 1 1 1
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

E
ss

e
x

K
en

t

H
av

e
ri

n
g

R
e
d
b
ri

d
ge

M
ed

w
ay

B
ex

le
y

B
ar

ki
n
g

C
ro

yd
o

n

N
ew

h
am

So
u
th

en
d

W
al

th
a…

C
en

tr
al

…

E
as

t 
Su

ss
ex

E
n
fie

ld

L
am

b
e
th

L
an

ca
sh

ir
e

L
ew

is
h
am

N
o
rf

o
lk

So
m

er
se

t

St
af

fo
rd

s…

Su
rr

ey

b
ar

n
et

B
o
u
rn

e
…

B
ra

ck
n
e
ll

B
u
ck

in
gh

…

C
am

b
ri

d
…

D
o

rs
e
t

H
ar

ro
w

H
o

u
n
sl

o
w

Is
lin

gt
o

n

N
o
rt

h
…

N
o
rt

h
u
…

N
o
tt

in
gh

…

O
x
fo

rd
s…

So
u
th

am
…

T
o

w
er

…

W
es

t…

100

64

25
15

30 37

16
2 3 6 13

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0
-<

1

1
-<

2

2
-<

3

3
-<

4

4
-<

5

5
-<

6

6
-<

7

7
-<

8

8
-<

9

9
-<

1
0

1
1
+

Time in care (years)

0

10

20

30

40

50

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17

age in years

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank



6 December 2017 ITEM:  10

Corporate Parenting Committee

Annual Fostering Report  April 2016 – March 2017

Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
Non-Key

Report of: 
Andrews Osei, Service Manager, Family Placements

Accountable Assistant Director: 
Sheila Murphy, Assistant Director of Children’s Care and Targeted Outcomes 

Accountable Director: 
Rory Patterson, Corporate Director of Children’s Services

This report is Public

Executive Summary

2016/2017 has been a transitional year for the Fostering Service. It is the year that 
the Fostering, Placement, Adoption and Children Contact Centre were redesigned as 
a one-hub Family Placement Service. It is also the year that the Fostering 
Recruitment and Support Services in collaboration with IMPOWER reviewed and 
realigned the activities of teams and designed a strategy to increase in house foster 
carers as well as expand carers placement capacity. 

There has been a change in the leadership and management of the service. A new 
service manager joined Thurrock on 01/03/2016 to take the lead for Fostering, 
Adoption, Placement and Resources. A new Team Manager was appointed in 
February 2016.  Special Guardianship Assessments has been restructured and 
centralised under a Recruitment and Assessment Team Manager. During these 
changes, the fostering service focussed on its core business of maintaining existing 
carers as well as increasing the foster carer’s numbers and capacity. 

The redesign and additional responsibility relating to Special Guardianships has 
resulted in change of the names of the various teams in fostering. The Fostering 
Support Team is now Placement Support and Fostering Recruitment Team has been 
renamed Placement Recruitment and Assessment Team. These changes will ensure 
effective communication with stake holders including foster carers, staff and service 

Page 47

Agenda Item 10



users that the team’s core function covers all forms of family placement 
arrangements.

Overall, 10 new carers were approved April - March 2016/2017 and four carers left 
due to resignations and retirements (net gain of 6). 11 Temporary Approvals were 
live and ongoing as at 31/03/2017. A total of 64 SGOs were allocated (64 
households) 53 were filed to court and 11 are ongoing. From the 53 households filed 
to court 23 household (39 children) were granted Special Guardianship Orders. 

A total of 163 children were living in Thurrock’s in-house Family Placement 
provisions as at 31/03/2017. Of the total number, 130 were in a fostering provision 
and 33 new Special Guardianship Orders were granted by the courts. 7 young adults 
(18 years +) were staying with their foster carers under staying put arrangement.

There are clear plans to strengthen the gains made and to take full advantage of 
IMPOWER and the Recruitment Team’s joint strategy to encourage more people to 
become Thurrock foster carers. We have established project groups jointly led and 
run by foster carers and supervising social workers in three key areas, namely; 
recruitment campaigns, assessment process and foster carer’s support to ensure 
better systems are in place to attract and retain good foster carers.

According to Fostering Network figures (205/16), the overall national context for 
fostering services is that, there is a deficit in the number of foster carers that are 
needed to provide placement and placement choice for Children Looked After. Going 
by our current placement trend, the service is working with stakeholders to achieve a 
net increase of 45 additional carers within the next 3 years so that Thurrock can offer 
up to 80% of children within our in-house fostering provision. (Refer to Recruitment / 
Sufficiency Strategy for specific details)

2016/17 also saw a continued focus in providing the best support, training and 
development for Thurrock foster carers. A new therapeutic therapist joined the 
service to provide clinical supervision and support to carers with complex and difficult 
placements.  The therapist is providing clinical supervision and support to carers with 
complex and difficult placements. Consultation meetings also take place for 
supervising social workers and social workers in order to understand and develop 
appropriate methods to meet the children’s needs and to stabilise placements. 

1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 That the Corporate Parenting Committee note the report.

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 Thurrock Fostering Service is registered and regulated by Ofsted. The 
service’s activity complies with the Fostering Services (England) Regulations 
2011 & 2013, National Minimum Standards for Fostering 2011, Children Act 
1989, and  Guidance and Regulations Volume 4: 

Page 48



3. Description of the service

3.1 The Family Placement Service is responsible for the strategic operational 
management of all types of care placements and resources for Thurrock 
Children Services. 

3.2 The managers of the teams across the service are; Adina Stefoni, Carole 
Parker, Julia Sutton and Vivien Keirle; they are all permanent members of 
staff.  Adina is responsible for Placement Support and Carole is responsible 
for Placement Referrals. Julia and Vivien are responsible for Assessments 
and Children Contacts respectively. 

3.3 The Family Placement Service has 28 staff. 

3.4 Children are at the heart of everything we do. Thurrock Family Placement 
Service is a listening and learning service and therefore takes full 
responsibility and ownership of concerns and complaints from children, 
carers, staff and all stake holders and work hard to improve on outcomes and 
quality of care for children and young people.   

3.5 Our philosophy is that children in foster care must experience good quality of 
normal family life by integrating with loving foster families who are able to 
make everyday decisions as they would do for their own children.

3.6 Thurrock fostering service support children to develop their own identities and 
aspirations to fulfil their potential. We encourage children to take advantage of 
every opportunity to promote their talents and skills. 

3.7 We are committed to continuous improvement in our standards and service 
provision. We therefore promote a culture of learning and development by 
listening and taking regular feedback from children, stakeholders, partners, 
foster carers and prospective carers.

4. Local Context

4.1 The core activity of the Family Placement Service is to provide suitable 
placements for children in care. The management of foster placements is a 
key responsibility of a team of social workers in the Family Placement 
Service. 

4.2 There are eight (8) supervising social worker positions in the Support Team. 
The core duty of each supervising social worker is to hold purposeful 
meetings with the foster carers including at least one unannounced visit a 
year.  The objectives of the meetings are to support, supervise and ensure 
that foster carers are meeting the needs of children, taking into account each 
child’s wishes and feelings. The supervision meeting is also a framework to 
assess foster carers’ performance and develop their competencies and skills.

4.3 There are six (6) social workers in the Assessment Team. This is 
complemented with one (1) recruitment officer and one (1) foster carers 

Page 49



annual reviewing officer. The core duty of the Assessment Team is to recruit, 
prepare and assess prospective carers and special guardians. 

4.4 The Referral Team has one senior social worker complimenting the manager 
to search for and, in collaboration with the Support Team, match children with 
suitable carers.

4.5 The Family Contact Centre (OAK Tree) is well managed and supported by an 
experienced social work manager and well trained contact supervisors. The 
Centre delivers core Family Contact functions. OAK Tree is currently the hub 
delivering all contacts and support services including post adoption/ SGO 
Letter box Contact either in-house or through partnership with private 
providers. Staff at the Centre provides exceptionally professional service to 
preserve a child’s sense of origin, keeping open the possibility of family 
relationships later in life and by providing reassurance for the child, reducing 
anxiety and fear of rejection to improve placement stability.

4.6 All posts in the Family Placement Service are occupied by permanent staff. 
This provides the stability and continuity for the growth and development of 
the service. The current staff to carer ratio is 1:16. The average case load is 
currently 1:13 carers; however, there are occasional increases due to 
approval (Reg: 24) of family members and friends to care for children 
removed from their parents’ care. There are six permanent assessing social 
workers responsible for mainstream, connected and special guardianship 
assessments.

4.7 The service has improved partnership with foster carers by listening and 
hearing their views and incorporating their suggestions in the overall delivery 
of fostering services. Foster carers are consulted and involved in the 
recruitment and retention strategy. A number of methods are used to solicit 
feedback from carers. They include; annual feedback questionnaire, open 
discussions at fosters carers forum, joint committee meetings and direct 
representation from the foster carers association (The One Team).

4.8 We have exceeded our agreed targets for recruiting new carers and 
increasing the use of in-house placements by 20% from 85 placements to 102 
placements. The usage of In house placement capacity increased over 38% 
to 117 placements in 2016/17.  

4.9 There remains a surplus of carers for younger children (under 5) due to our 
own in-house capacity and a Service Level Agreement (SLA) with Essex 
Fostering. This means we have achieved the sufficiency required for ‘Baby 
only’ carers therefore are no longer recruiting carers without a spare bedroom 
into that category.

4.10 The highest demand and shortage of carers is for teenagers and large sibling 
groups. The authority therefore stopped generic recruitment in 2016/17 and 
targeted recruitment of carers for teenagers and sibling placements. 

Page 50



4.11 Work undertaken with iMPOWER has assisted the service to strengthen and 
focus our recruitment strategy. Our current strategy is based on a clear 
market analysis of the potential pool of carers within Thurrock and what is 
likely to motivate them to foster.  

4.12 Placements are made appropriately with careful matching both in-house and 
with IFA carers. There has been a marked reduction in the rate of placement 
breakdowns within in-house placements and this is seen as a direct result of 
pro-active support and training for foster carers. We have moved away from 
‘disruption’ meetings with a focus on ‘placement stability’ meetings and 
promoting placement stability.  The increase in our long term stability rate 
from 63% (2015/16) to 72% currently is seen as an indicator of initial success 
in this area.

4.13    Feedback about the fostering service from carers is positive and effective 
consultation with carers and the fostering association has seen an increase in  
foster carers willing to consider Staying Put arrangements.  

5. Assessment and Approvals 3 Years Average

The service has added 10 new fostering households to its mainstream carers 
in 2016/2017. The trend of recruitments for the last 3 years as highlighted 
below shows that the service has struggled to recruit more main stream 
carers. It is therefore anticipated that the revised [iMPOWER] strategy will 
address the shortfalls. It is forecasted that between 18 and 25 new carers will 
be approved 2017/18.  

Table 1 / Graph 1 (4.1)
Approved Foster Carers (Quarterly) / 3 years progress

0
2
4
6
8

10
12

Quarter 
1

Quarter 
2

Quarter 
3

Quarter 
4 Total

2016/17 2 2 4 2 10
2015/16 0 3 3 5 11
2014/15 3 1 3 2 9

2016/17

2015/16

2014/15

Number of Approved Foster Carers
 (not connected carers or temp approvals)

Quarter

Number of 
approved foster 

carers

Page 51



6. Foster Carers

6.1 As of 1st April 2017, there were 158 active carers from 92 households. Out of 
the total number, there were 129 mainstream carers from 75 fostering 
households and 12 Family and Friends Carers from 6 Connected Carer 
Households.  A total of 17 Temporary Approvals, of 11 households were 
ongoing as at 01/04/2017. The table below provide detailed breakdown of the 
full composition of Thurrock carers.

6.2 As of 01/04/17 there were 7 approved foster carers from 4 households that 
were inactive (on ‘hold’ - offering no placement opportunity) for various 
reasons including change of circumstance, sickness, break from fostering. 

6.3 The diversity of the Thurrock carer population is essential to meet the needs 
of children who are and who may become looked after in Thurrock.

Table 2 (6.1) Ethnicity of Individual foster carers (Not Households)  
                                             

 Foster 
Carers

Connect. 
People

Temp 
Approval Total %

White British 110 6 16 132 83.5%
White Irish 2   2 1.3%
White Other 4 2  6 3.8%
White & 
Black 
Caribbean

1   1 0.6%

Asian  2  2 1.3%
Caribbean 7   7 4.4%
African 4 2 1 7 4.4%
Other 1   1 0.6%

Page 52



Looked-After Children & Ethnicity of In-House Fostering Households

7. Placements

7.1 At 31st March 2017 there were 332 children in care and 251 living in foster 
care – representing 76% of Children in Care. Of the 251 children living in 
foster care on the 31st March 2017, 51.8% (130) lived with Thurrock In-House 
Foster Carers whilst 113, representing 45%, resided with Independent Foster 
Carers (IFAs). 8 (3.2%) were in Voluntary or Third Sector provision.

7.2 The service exceeded the target of placing 50% of children in fostering 
placement with in-house foster carer in 2016/17 financial year.  The significant 
gain was as result of good and creative use of family and friend carers 
(connected) in accordance with Regulation 24 of Care Planning regulations. 

7.3 The migrant crises in Europe in 2016 also contributed to high proportion of 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) arriving in Thurrock and 
becoming accommodated as Looked-After Children. 

Trend analysis placements  

Chart 1:  Look After Children and Placements: 2016/2017

Placement Type Children  Percentage
U4 Foster placement 216 63.9%
P2 Independent living 49 14.8%

Page 53



K2 Children's Homes 21 6.3%
U1 Connected Person 18 5.1%
U3 Reg: 24 16 4.8%
P1 Placed with own parents 6 1.8%
R1 Residential Care Home (Reg 
Homes Act 1984 2 0.9%
R3 Family Centre / Mother and 
Baby Unit 1 0.6%
A6 Adoption (S21) - not with 
current foster carer 1 0.6%
U5 Foster placement with other 
foster carer who is also an 
approved adopter: 1 0.3%
K1 Secure unit 1 0.3%
R5 0 0.0%
Q2 0 0.0%

332

Page 54



Chart 2: In- House Placements Vrs Independent Fostering Agency 
2016/17

PP CODE
PR4 - Private Provision 113 45.0%
PR1 - Own provision by LA 114 45.4%
PR2 - Other LA provision 16 6.4% 51.8% 130
PR5 - Voluntary/Third Sector Provision 8 3.2%

251

Page 55



Chart 3: Age Distribution of Looked After Children and Placements 
2016/17
Age   P’pulation

Page 56



Chart 4: Independent Fostering Agency Placements Trend From 2014 – 
2017

91 88

124 121

March 2014 March 2015 March 2016 March 2017
0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

Year End IFA Placements 

Year

Number of 
children

Chart 5:  Ethnic representation of LAC as at 31/03/2017

Ethnicity Number %
A1 - White British 189 56.90%
D2 - African 40 12.00%
E2 - Any Other Ethnic Group 30 9.00%
C4 - Any Other Asian 
Background 19 5.70%

A3 - Any Other White 
Background 14 4.20%

B4 - Any Other Mixed 
Background 12 3.60%

B1 - Mixed White/ Black 
Caribbean 7 2.10%

D3 - Any Other Black 
Background 6 1.80%

A5 - Gypsy / Roma 6 1.80%
B3 - Mixed White/ Asian 3 0.90%
D1 - Caribbean 3 0.90%
B2 - Mixed White/ Black 
African 1 0.30%

C1 - Indian 1 0.30%
C2 - Pakistani 1 0.30%

332

Page 57



8. Fostering Approval Terminations 

8.1 Four carers have left for various reasons in 2016/17 financial year

 1 - Deregistered for  safeguarding reasons
 3 - Resigned citing retirement 

9. Foster Placements and Services Provided 

The fostering teams provide a range of services including:

9.1 Permanent and long-term foster carers: make a commitment to care for a 
child or young person until they reach adult life

9.2 Short term foster carers: which include placements where the plan is for a 
child to return home or move to an alternative permanent placement.

9.3 Remand foster carers: who offer placements to young people who have 
been remanded to the care of the local authority by the courts.

9.4 Family and Friends carers: foster carers approved to look after a specific 
child or children. These carers are family members or friends who knew a 
child or children before they came into the care system.

9.5 Short Break carers: are being recruited in line with the aiming high agenda 
to provide short breaks for children.

9.6 Parent and Child carers: who offer fostering placement to support or assess 
parental capacity of birth parents as directed by Court or following 
recommendations of assessments. 

Page 58



10. Foster Carers Recruitment Activities 

10.1 The Fostering Service has used a variety of mediums to recruit a wide 
spectrum of Foster Carers. The Fostering Recruitment strategy 2016/17 
focused on increasing the number of applications and the timeliness of our 
response to fostering enquiries.

10.2 From data analysis it is apparent that potential applicants mainly enquire 
online with 48 % of all enquiries coming via this route, this is compared with 
21% of enquiries coming via telephone and 31% of enquirers having attended 
a drop in or fostering event.

10.3 Conversely, the highest single advertising medium recorded was the Thurrock 
Gazette (11%) however, 51% of enquiries state that they have not seen any 
advertising.  As this is such a large proportion, it is difficult to know if this is 
actually the case, especially as most of these applications do not proceed 
further in the process so there is no opportunity to explore this.

10.4 There is also evidence that most applications from internet searches do not 
progress to assessment due to lack of information and understanding of the 
processes and requirements. As a result, dedicated fostering portals have 
been developed with clear and specific information to help prospective 
applicants make informed decisions. We aim to fully utilise the advantages of 
all forms of digital media to attract new applicants. Detailed analysis of the 
Fostering Recruitment activities may be accessed from appendix 1 of this 
report.

10.5 Timeliness of the application Process 

10.6 The 2013 fostering regulation in relation to Stage1 and Stage 2 assessment 
process is fully complied with. Stage 1 of the assessment process is intended 
to provide basic information about the applicant to enable clearly unsuitable 
applicants to be sifted out without unnecessary bureaucracy or expenditure of 
time and resource by the fostering service or the applicant. This has 
contributed to robust screening process also initial enquirers getting a better 
understanding of the profession of fostering. 

Where the Stage 1 information has been obtained, and no notification has 
been given within 10 working days that the applicant is not suitable to be a 
foster, Stage 2 process which include information relating to the applicant and 
other members of the household, together with any other relevant information 
commences.  This clarity of process has contributed in tackling delays and 
ensured that assessments are completed within 16 weeks from date of first 
contact.  Out the 10 approvals, 50% (5) of the applicants were approved 
within 12 weeks from the date of application and 5 approved between 14 and 
16 weeks.

Page 59



Chart 6: Applicant Enquiry to Initial Visit (2016/17)

7
9 9

12

5 5
7 7

4

7

3

6

Ap
ril

M
ay

Ju
ne Ju
ly

Au
gu

st

Se
pt

em
be

r

O
ct

ob
er

N
ov

em
be

r

De
ce

m
be

r

Ja
nu

ar
y

Fe
br

ua
ry

M
ar

ch

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

6

1

12

4
3

7

3
4

3

5

1

5 Number of initial visit requests
Number IV's completed

Number of Initial Visits Requested and IV's Completed 
(2016/17)

Month

Number of IV's

Page 60



10.7 Preparing Fostering Applicants  

10.8 Fostering applicants are expected to attend a three day or six evenings Skills 
to Foster Training course as part of their full assessment. Skills to Foster 
preparation sessions are run on a regular basis by the fostering service 
(social worker) and foster carer. All training events are co-facilitated with an 
approved foster carer and feedback from prospective applicants confirms this 
is highly valued. 

11. Fostering Reports

11.1 All Social work practitioners in the recruitment and assessment teams have 
attended ‘Making Good Assessments” training and workshops. 

11.2 The Fostering Panel Advisor quality assures all assessments that are 
submitted to the fostering panel. Every effort is made to ensure that applicants 
are presented to Panel within statutory timescales.

11.3 Panel members complete feedback form on each application.  Feedback from 
the Panel Membership is indicative that the quality of assessments, analysis 
and general standard of the report has significantly improved. The service is 
using the current Coram-BAAF assessment template for fostering and 
connected person’s assessments.  

12. Fostering Panel

12.1 The Fostering Panel is supported by the Agency Advisor and is chaired 
independently. The membership is diverse with specialisms in health and 
education and social work. Other panel members include the Lead Member 
for Children’s Services, a previous foster carer and two people who were 
fostered as children.  

12.2 The panel considers all prospective assessments, foster carers’ reviews and 
termination of approvals. The Panel makes recommendations to the Agency 
Decision Maker who is currently the Assistant Director of Children Social Care 
Services.

12.3 There were 11 new applications presented to the fostering panel. 10 of them 
were recommended for approval, one required a further reference from ex-
employer before a recommendation for approval.

12.4 Panel Meetings are held once every month. The nature of panel businesses 
and agendas are determined two weeks before meeting. There are occasion 
where the business of panel require two meetings in a month. 

12.5 There were 30 annual reviews considered by the panel from April 2016 to 
March 2017 of which 29 were recommended re-approved. One carer was 
deregistered and received a qualified determination but the applicants did not 
pursue the Independent Review Mechanism (IRM) process and Agency 
Decision Maker accordingly deregistered the applicant after 28 days qualifying 

Page 61



determination notice lapsed. The IRM process is an independent review of the 
qualifying determination where a fostering service provider proposes not to 
approve prospective foster carers or to withdraw or change the terms of an 
existing foster carer’s approval. 

Chart 13 (12.3) Cases presented to Panel 2016/17 

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

10

April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar
Form F 0 1 1 2 0 0 2 1 2 2 0 0
Annual Review 0 5 3 2 2 0 2 3 2 2 0 9

Items presented to Panel  2016/17

Month

Number presented

                              
12.6 The Panel’s Quality Assurance Role

12.7 The Fostering Panel performs its quality assurance role by providing regular 
feedback to the service. A joint meeting between the management of Family 
Placement and Panel members is held quarterly to discuss practice and 
strategic issues.

12.8 Feedback from applicants who attended panel was generally positive. For 
example, members were complimentary about the thoroughness of annual 
foster carers reviews presented to panel. 

12.9 All panel members receive annual appraisal and this is undertaken jointly by 
the Fostering Panel Chair and Fostering Panel Advisor. The Fostering Panel 
Chair’s annual appraisal is undertaken by the Agency Decision Maker of the 
Fostering Service.

12.10 New Fostering applicants who were approved by the Agency Decision Maker 
were informed in writing within 5 working days.

13.  Support for Foster Carers

13.1 Foster carers receive monthly (4 weekly) visits from a supervising social 
worker. The allocated worker is aware of the demands of each placement and 
is available to offer support via the telephone or by home visits. Supervising 

Page 62



social workers continuously assess the needs of the individual carers and 
identifies additional support and training to enhance the quality of their care.

13.2 The Fostering out of hours duty phone (OOH) offers a service outside of the 
normal working hours ensuring that social worker support is provided until 
10.30pm each day. After 10.30pm foster carers can gain social work support 
from the Emergency Duty social worker. 

13.3 Competitive financial support is offered to reflect the value Thurrock places on 
foster carers. Additional competency allowance is paid to carers in recognition 
of their training and skills in managing difficult placements. 

13.4 Clinical supervision is offered to foster carers from an experienced therapist. 
The clinical support is bespoke and tailored to placement needs. The 
sessions may be 1-2-1 or group based. The session may include social 
workers and other professionals to better understand and meet the child’s 
needs. 

13.5 Thurrock has a strong foster carers association (ONE TEAM). The association 
provides a range of outings and other social and cultural events for its 
members. The leadership of the association are consulted and involved in 
planning and the delivery of services to children and carers. 

13.6 There are various support groups and peers support sessions offering advice 
and assistance for carers. Notable examples are; toddler support group, 
general foster carer’s support group, advanced support group and therapeutic 
foster carer support group. 

13.7 All newly approved foster carer are entitled to and supported by an 
experienced foster carer under the budding scheme. (Peer Mentoring) 

14.  Knowledge, Learning and Development for Carers

14.1 All foster carers receive a comprehensive induction. All newly approved foster 
carers receive support and guidance in achieving the Training, Support and 
Development (TSD) Standards within the first year after approval. 

14.2 The fostering learning development programme recognises the need for 
responsiveness and flexibility to carers learning styles and has developed a 
range of learning opportunities. Systems are being developed to facilitate 
thematic learning sets, E Learning and other innovative learning resources for 
‘hard to reach’ carers.

14.3 The learning and development team maintain a training plan for all carers. 
Foster carers maintain a training portfolio for their individual learning needs. 

14.4 Carers annual review consistently appraises training and development needs 
of foster carers with a clear plan of for how learning gaps would be 
addressed.

Page 63



14.5 The service is committed to support foster carer’s development. “Fostering 
Changes” 12 week programme and a Certificate in Therapeutic Care are 
currently explored as mandatory programme for all advanced and therapeutic 
carers. It is envisaged that this will consolidate good practice and build on 
behaviour management techniques.  

15.  Annual Review of Foster Carers

15.1 The Fostering Independent Reviewing Officer is responsible for coordinating 
all annual reviews. Review is carried out in accordance with Regulation 28 
(Fostering Services Regulation 2011). All Foster Carers are required to attend 
panel on the first and every third year review.

15.2 The reviewing process considers and ensures suitability of foster carers and 
their household in promoting the needs of children in a safe and caring 
environment. The process also includes an annual health and safety 
inspection report and outcomes of unannounced visits undertaken in the past 
year. 

15.3 As a department we continue to work towards developing a robust and 
effective annual reviewing process as we acknowledge that Thurrock Foster 
Carers’ Annual Reviews is essential requirement in providing quality 
placements.

16. Complaints and Compliments

16.1 From 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, the service received 7 complaints from 
birth parents and 3 allegations from looked after children. 4 complaints were 
resolved at Stage one, 3 at stage two. Of the 3 allegations, one was 
unsubstantiated and the carer continues to foster.  One was substantiated 
and the carer was deregistered.  The third allegation had a S47 child 
protection completed and there was not enough evidence to proceed further.

16.2 The service aims to respond to all complaints in a timely and objective 
manner in order to seek an early resolution that is satisfactory to the 
complainant.

16.3 Complaints received are addressed and resolved in the context of learning 
and improving practice. The common theme of 2016/17 complaint was ‘drift 
and the cumbersome process of investigations into allegation of abuse and 
standards of care’. In response, the service has co-produced guidance with 
foster carers which ensure timeliness and transparency of all investigations 
into allegations, standards of care complaints against foster carers.

16.4 There were many compliments from service users, birth parents and 
professionals. The service has kept a file of compliments. The number of 
compliment received has informed the re-introduction of foster carer’s annual 
recognition awards effective, 2017.

Page 64



17.  Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

17.1 The placement budget is overstretched due to insufficient number of in-house 
carers. As a result, a new recruitment campaign has been launched with a 
slogan “MAKE A DIFFERENCE”. Furthermore a business case has been 
submitted for consideration and if approved will drive the campaign to 
increase the number of carers within the next two years. 

17.2 The specific actions being undertaken include the following:

17.3 Targeted recruitment of foster carers to mitigate the increase in demand for 
Parent and Child foster placements, Teenagers with challenging behaviours 
and large sibling groups. “Short Breaks” Carers are also being recruited for 
children with disabilities.

17.4 Early Permanency plans for children in external (out of borough) placements 
and strategic use of In-House provision for children aged, 12 – or younger, 
with long term fostering plans, and to continue the effective use of SGOs to 
achieve permanency for children in long term care

17.5 Improve the quality of support offered to foster carers and to expand their 
capacity to accommodate challenging and ‘hard to place’ children. 

17.6 New ways of working by using data to predict the needs of the service and to 
review our statement of purpose regularly to align with our approach to 
meeting the needs and demands of the service.

17.7  Co-production of newsletter with foster carers to strengthen their involvement 
in the day to running of the fostering service.

18. Reasons for Recommendation

The Fostering Service is required under Fostering Services National Minimum 
Standards 25 to ensure that the executive side of the Local Authority receive 
written reports on the management, outcomes and progress of the Fostering 
Service [NMS 25.7]. Therefore, this report is intended to provide a summary 
analysis of performance, and inform on key issues for the future.

19. Consultation (including Overview and Scrutiny)

19.1 Foster Carers, Independent Fostering Panel and IMPOWER were all 
consulted.

19.2 Feedback from service users (foster children) has also been incorporated in 
this report.

20. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

Page 65



20.1 The Fostering Statement of Purpose has been updated to reflect the current 
outlook of the fostering service.

21. Implications

21.1 Financial                            

Implications verified by: Nilufa Begum
Management Accountant 

A new recruitment strategy has been developed to increase the number of 
fosters carers by 60 (net Increase) in the next two years. As a result some 
investment has been proposed in a new business case. If approved, the 
council will be investing three hundred and ten thousand over the next 2 
years. The anticipated savings and cost avoidance will be in the in excess of 
one million pounds over a four-year period.

21.2 Legal

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks
Principal Solicitor Children’s Safeguarding

The fostering Service complies with the Fostering Services Regulations, 2011 
and 2013 for the recruitment, assessment, approval, and matching, training 
and continuous support of foster carers. Furthermore, it is important to note 
that whilst the Local Authority continues to scrutinise all placements it also 
has to be aware of its duties under the Children Act 1989, which must be the 
focus on the best interest of each child, especially when exploring 
placements.

21.3 Diversity and Equality

Implications verified by: Rebecca Price 
Community Development Officer

The Fostering Service considers the needs of each individual child/young 
person, which includes their religion, language and disability to ensure these 
placements meet all their needs on a holistic level. In addition, the service 
undertakes a proactive approach to recruitment to encourage diversity across 
foster carers. 

There is also the need to consider issues such as child sexual exploitation is 
also prevalent when sourcing placements and looking at the individual needs 
of each child/young person.

21.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

The Fostering Service takes into consideration the experience and quality of 
staff, health and safety issues. The is a mandatory clinical supervision for all 

Page 66



foster carers and other mechanisms in place to assess and support the 
mental health and emotional wellbeing of fostered children and their carers

22. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 None

23. Appendices to the report
 

 Appendix 1 – Recruitment Analysis 2016/17

Report Author: 

Andrews Owusu Osei
Service Manager - Family Placement 
Children’s Services

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 – Recruitment Analysis 

Page 69



Page 70



Page 71



Page 72



Page 73



Page 74



Page 75



Page 76



6 December 2017 ITEM: 11

Corporate Parenting Committee

The Annual Report of the Virtual School Headteacher for 
Children Looked After – Academic Year 2016-2017
Wards and communities affected: 
All

Key Decision: 
All

Report of: 
Keeley Pullen, Headteacher of the Virtual School for Children Looked After

Accountable Assistant Director: 
Roger Edwardson, Strategic Lead - School Improvement, Learning and Skills

Accountable Director: 
Rory Patterson, Corporate Director of Children’s Services

This report is public

Executive Summary

Raising achievement in all areas of education for our Children Looked After [CLA] 
remains a key priority for Thurrock Council. The Virtual School monitors and 
supports the educational progress and outcomes for CLA irrespective of where they 
are placed, in or out of borough. The Virtual School is responsible for pupils aged 
between 3 years and 18 years and this includes those who have left care during an 
academic year.

The annual report of the Virtual School Headteacher details the validated outcomes 
for pupils in the Virtual School cohort for the academic year 2015-2016 for those 
pupils in care for one year or more. This data was presented to Corporate Parents in 
September 2017.

In addition, the report details the non-validated data outcomes for pupils for the 
academic year 2016-2017 irrespective of their length of time in care and detailed 
analysis for this group of pupils is included in the report.

The aim of the annual report is to provide the Corporate Parenting Committee with 
additional information regarding the service that the Virtual School provides for all 
CLA pupils across an academic year.

This annual report has been presented to and approved by the Virtual School 
Governing Board as part of the meeting held on 28th September 2017. 

Page 77

Agenda Item 11



1. Recommendation(s)

1.1 The Committee notes the non-validated DFE outcomes of the summer
2017 tests and examinations and commends the pupils, their schools 
and parents/carers on their achievements. 

1.2 That the Committee recognises that the cohorts of pupils are small and 
that this should be considered when comparing year on year data.

1.3 That the Committee recognises that the length of time in care can affect 
the progress and outcomes of the pupils.

1.4 The Committee approves the Annual Report of the Virtual School 
Headteacher for the academic year 2016-2017 and uses this information 
to acknowledge, evaluate and if appropriate, challenge the services that 
are provided for all CLA. 

2. Introduction and Background

2.1 The target for Thurrock Children Looked After is for them to be improving year 
on year and to meet the expected standards. The target is to close the 
attainment gap between CLA and non-CLA and to be above national 
outcomes for all CLA. This was achieved in 2016 and indicative data suggest 
that this has been at least maintained in 2017.

2.2 The year groups to be reported are outlined as follows:  
Early Years – Foundation Stage [4-5 years old]
Year 1 (5-6 years old)
KS1 (6-7 years old)
KS2 (10-11 years old)
KS4 (15-16 years old)

2.3 The annual report should provide the Committee with detailed information 
regarding the broad scope of work of the Virtual School which provides 
members with a greater depth of knowledge in order to enable the Committee 
to challenge. The annual report is provided as a separate document.

3. Attainment for Children Looked After

3.1  Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS age 5)

3.1.2 The Good Level of Development (GLD) measure is awarded at the end of 
EYFS when a pupil has achieved at least the expected level in the entire 
prime areas of learning and in literacy and mathematics.

3.1.3 The GLD has fluctuated significantly over a 4 year period and this 
demonstrates the uniqueness and small size of each cohort. The size of each 
cohort shows that each child’s result is worth a significant percentage amount. 

Page 78



3.1.4 The diagram below illustrates the performance of Thurrock CLA against 
national and Thurrock non-CLA pupils. The Department for Education does 
not provide national data comparisons for Children Looked After in the area of 
a Good Level of Development.

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Thurrock
England
CLA
Cohort Size

Good Level of Development 4 year trend

 
3.1.5 The provisional GLD result for Thurrock CLA demonstrates a declining trend. 

However, this result is based upon 2 pupils who were still in care at the end of 
the academic year. There were 8 pupils who were in care at some stage 
during their reception year but these were in care for less than their academic 
Reception year. Out of the 8 pupils who were in care at some point during 
their Reception year, [4 children – 50% achieved a GLD]. Of the 2 pupils who 
had been in care for 1 year or more, and had subsequently left care during 
their Reception year, 50% [1 pupil] achieved GLD

3.1.6 The academic profile of the 2016/17 cohort saw that 50% of the 8 pupil cohort 
was applicable for Special Educational Needs and Disabilities [SEND] 
classification and they are receiving additional support in school. Pupils with 
SEND have specific learning needs and require extra support. Therefore, 50% 
of the cohort were working significantly below the national average according 
to development matters which assessed their learning at below their 
chronological age. In addition, these pupils had a larger gap to close in order 
to meet a Good Level of Development. They were provided with additional 
support in their schools through group and individual support interventions. It 
aided them in their progress and enabled them to catch up with their peers to 
make expected progress across the year, even if they did not meet the 
expected standards.

3.1.7 Pupil progress was monitored through the Personal Education Plans [PEPs] 
for each pupil. Pupils made progress across the year by achieving their 

Page 79



targets and by the Virtual School holding schools to account for the quality of 
teaching and support they provided and by the use and impact of Pupil 
Premium Plus funding. All pupils in this cohort made at least expected 
progress across the academic year from their on entry starting points. 

3.1.8 Planned Action by the Virtual School in response to the 2017 data:

 Ensure that Transition arrangements have been effectively put in place to 
support the pupils as they move into Year 1.

 Monitor pupil progress through the use of the Pupil Premium monitoring and 
work with schools to ensure correct level of support is provided.

 Link with schools needing additional support.
 Obtain on entry data for current Year R cohort to enable the measurement of 

progress.

3.2  Year 1 Phonics Score [Age 6]

3.2.1 The Year 1 phonics screening check is undertaken in June by all those pupils 
in Year 1 and those pupils in year 2 who did not achieve age related 
expectations whilst in Year 1.

3.2.2 The percentage of children who reached the expected standard has 
decreased compared to the previous year. The data for 2015 was based upon 
a cohort of 7 pupils, 4 [57%] of whom passed. In 2016 there were 9 year 1 
pupils in the cohort and 7 pupils [78%] passed the screen. In 2017 there were 
8 pupils in the cohort and 5 pupils [63%] passed the screen.

3.2.3 This is illustrated in the table and graph below

Year Total Cohort Size Number who passed
2015 7 4 pupils – 57%
2016 9 7 pupils – 78%
2017 8 5 pupils – 63%

Page 80



76 76
83 84

74 77
81 81

44

57

78

63

2014 2015 2016 2017

Thurrock National Thurrock CLA

Y1 Phonics Screening Check

3.2.4 The data is fluctuating, however, it is difficult to gauge trends when analysing 
small cohort sizes. The different needs and circumstances, including length of 
time in care, needs to be considered. It is important to recognise the individual 
nature of every year 1 pupil and therefore, the Personal Education Plan 
process is crucial in this respect for identifying their educational needs. Foster 
carers have an important role to play in supporting the acquisition of phonics 
and early reading skills. In particular, regular sharing of books and completing 
phonic activities at home. 

3.2.5 The planned action for the forthcoming academic year will include continuing 
to speak to schools to discuss provision to ensure that those who did not 
reach the expected standard are supported during Year 2. Those Year 2 
pupils who needed to re-sit from the previous year [2016] totalled 5 children. 3 
pupils [60%] passed. The two who did not are currently going through the 
EHCP process but they have improved on their score from the previous year. 
As a result of the decline in those meeting the standard for phonics, the 
Virtual School will be creating home learning packs and offering foster carers 
phonics training so that they can support their young learners at home. 

3.3  Key Stage 1 Results [Non-Validated Data] 2017 [Age 7]

3.3.1 From 2016, KS1 assessments are no longer reported as levels and cannot be 
compared to previous years. 

3.3.2 In the graph below, it is possible to see how Children Looked After performed 
against National and Thurrock non-CLA. The table does not include National 
CLA performance data as this is not available at the time of this report.

Page 81



75
68

75

63

Reading Writing Maths Combined
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Thurrock
National
CLA

% pupils assessed as working at or exceeding  the 
Expected Standard KS1 2017

Graph of Non-Validated Results Comparison for National and Thurrock Non-
CLA [2017]

Table of Results of Thurrock CLA [11 pupils in cohort] 2017

Subject Number
of Pupils

Percentage 
[2017]

National CLA [2016]

Reading 8 73% 50%
Writing 7 64% 37%
Maths 7 64% 46%
Combined 6 55% Not provided

3.3.3 The above data is based upon a cohort size of 11 pupils. This is a very small 
data set for comparison particularly when comparing against very large 
numbers for Thurrock and all Year 2 Nationally. Analysis of this data indicates 
that CLA have performed less well than their non-CLA peers nationally and 
Thurrock non-CLA pupils. However, what is most pleasing is that the 
difference compared to non-CLA is diminishing. For example: it is only 2% 
below national for reading, 4% below national for writing and 9% below 
national for maths.

3.3.4 What is difficult to gauge is a comparison with those who are looked after 
nationally due to lack of data at the time of this report. However, when 
comparing performance to last year’s national CLA data we are significantly 
above in all areas.  In addition, a direct comparison of our in house data 
demonstrates that, the results for our KS1 pupils have improved this year.  
This is shown in the next graph.

Page 82



58
50

58
50

73
64 64

55

Reading Writing Maths RWM 

CLA 16 CLA 17

2017 Provisional KS1 Assessed as working at or 
exceeding expected  [All pupils irrespective of time in care direct 

comparison]

3.3.5 Contextual data for the cohort shows that only 1 [9%] of the 11 pupils were in 
an out of borough school. All pupils [100%] who achieved the combined score 
in reading, writing and maths attended a Thurrock school. This would indicate 
that those who did well attended a Thurrock school. 

3.3.6 In terms of prior attainment, only 7 pupils [64%] of the cohort obtained a good 
level of development at the end of their reception year two years prior to the 
Key Stage [KS] 1 assessments. This would suggest that the rate of attainment 
and progress for these pupils has remained consistent across KS1. These 
pupils would have needed to make accelerated progress in that time to be 
able to reach the expected standard. 1 pupil [25%] out of the 4 who did not 
reach GLD at the end of the Foundation Stage reached the expected standard 
at KS1. 

3.3.7 The length of time in care varied for this cohort. Length of time in care is 
shown in the table below:

Period when 
entered care

Number of pupils
[% = of total 

cohort size of 11]

Met expected 
standard [% of 
those in this 

period]
2017 3 pupils [27%] 2 pupils [67%]
2016 4 pupils [36%] 3 pupils [75%]
2015 0 pupils
2014 0 pupils
2013 2 pupils [18%] 0
2012 2 pupils [18%] 1 pupil [50%]

The data in the table above would suggest that the length of time in care has 
not impacted on this group in terms of attainment. It is worth noting that, of the 

Page 83



2 pupils who have been in care the longest, the one pupil who did not reach 
expected standard only did not meet it in maths. It was met in reading and 
writing. 

Of the 2 pupils who have been in care since 2013 who did not meet the 
standard, 1 is currently going through the EHCP process and 1 met the 
standards in reading and maths but not writing.

It should also be noted that 5 pupils [45%] have left care during the academic 
year; however, data has still been collected as they were looked after at some 
point during this academic year.

Only 2 pupils in the cohort [18%] are SEN support, 1 of these is currently 
going through the EHCP process.

3.3.8 Planned action by the Virtual School in response to this data.

 Ensure that Transition arrangements have been effectively put in place to 
support the pupils’ move into Year 3

 Monitor pupil progress through use of the Pupil Premium monitoring and work 
with schools to ensure correct level of support is provided

 PEP meeting in place within the Autumn term 2017
 Link with schools needing additional support
 Monitor progress for current year 3 to check that those who did not meet the 

expected standard are being appropriately supported.

3.4  Key Stage 2 Results [Non-Validated Data] 2017 [Age 11]

3.4.1 From 2016, the new more challenging national curriculum, which was 
introduced in 2014, was assessed by new tests and interim frameworks for 
teacher assessment. KS2 results are no longer reported as levels: each pupil 
receives their test results as a scaled score and teacher assessments based 
on the standards in the interim framework.

3.4.2 The cohort size for the 2017 Key Stage 2 SATS was 16 pupils. There were a 
further 7 pupils who were disapplied from SATS due to the setting they 
attended or SEND needs. Therefore, the decision has been made to dis-apply 
them from the reporting requirements. The data provided is based upon 
attainment for those 16 pupils who took the tests.

3.4.3 For Thurrock CLA the statistics for those achieving the expected standard 
were as follows: reading 56% [9 pupils], GPS 44% [7 pupils], maths 62% [10 
pupils] and writing was 50% [8 pupils]. The graph below illustrates the 
comparisons with non-CLA nationally and all pupils in Thurrock for 2017 
results. National CLA statistical comparisons are not available at the time of 
this report due to the time of publication of the Statistical First Release.

Page 84



69
77 75 78

61

71
76 74 76

61
56

44

62

50
44

Reading GPS Maths Writing RWM 

Thurrock NCLA National NCLA Thurrock CLA

2017 Provisional KS2 assessment data

Graph of Non-Validated Results Comparison for National and Thurrock Non-
CLA [2017]

3.4.4 Children Looked After were below all Thurrock and National children in all 
areas. However, consideration should be given that this is comparing 16 
pupils with a large number of children across the country and the borough. 
The biggest areas for development based upon this 2017 data would be 
Grammar, Punctuation and Spelling [GPS] and writing.

3.4.5 The following graph illustrates the comparison between Thurrock CLA over 2 
years of the new testing regime. What is good news is the increase in the 
number of pupils reaching the expected standard from 25% in 2016 to 56% 
this year in reading. There has been a significant increase in those pupils 
achieving a combined score in reading, writing and maths. The graph also 
illustrates the comparison against last year’s CLA national data in the 
absence of current CLA data.

Page 85



25

42

58 58

25

56

44

62

50
44

41 43 41
46

25

Reading GPS Maths Writing RWM 

CLA 16 CLA 17 National CLA 16

2017 Non-Validated KS2 assessment data 2 year trend 
[All pupils irrespective of time in care direct comparison]

3.4.6 Monitoring and tracking was extensive for this cohort of pupils. Schools were 
required to provide termly tracking data and evidence how pupil premium plus 
was supporting learning and progress.

3.4.7 15 pupils out of the 16 who took their tests [94%] made at least expected 
progress from their prior attainment at Key Stage 1. Some made greater than 
expected progress. 1 pupil who did not make as much progress was due to 
missing school for being in hospital for much of year 5 and an Education 
Healthcare Plan is currently being applied for to support in Year 7.

3.4.8 Prior attainment at Key Stage 1 for this cohort was low with only 8 pupils 
[50%] reaching level 2B+ in reading, 6 pupils [37%] reaching 2B+ in writing 
and 7 pupils [44%] achieving 2B+ in maths. Progress measures from the 
Department for Education will be published later this academic year so a 
better analysis of progress can be provided. However, this prior data would 
suggest that pupils were not expected to reach the required standard at Key 
Stage 2 as over 60% of the cohort was below national average previously. 
This progress measure would suggest that although pupils did not meet the 
expected standards, their rate of progress was at least good.

3.4.9 The Year 6 cohort contained 6 pupils [37%] out of the 16 entered for SATS 
with SEND. As mentioned above, pupils with SEND have additional learning 
and/or emotional needs which affect their learning and this affected their 
attainment within the harder tests. However, these pupils made at least 
expected progress except for 1 pupil as mentioned above.

3.4.10 The length of time in care varied for this cohort between 2011 and 2017. The 
table below illustrates this:

Page 86



Period 
when 

entered 
care

Number of 
pupils

[% = of total 
cohort size of 

16]

Met expected 
KS2 standard 

RWM
 [% of those in 

this period]

Met expected 
KS1 standard 

in RWM

Expected 
Progress

[% of those in 
this period]

2017 6 pupils [37%] 3 pupils [50%] 2 pupils [33%] 6 pupils 
[100%]

2016 1 pupil [6%] 0 [0%] 0 1 pupil [100%]

2015 3 pupils [19%] 2 [67%] 1 pupil [33%] 3 pupils 
[100%]

2013 1 pupil [6%] 1 [100] 0 1 pupil [100%]

2012 4 pupils [25%] 2 [50%] 2 pupils [50%] 3 pupils [75%]

2011 1 pupil [6%] 0 [0%] 0 1 pupil [100%]

3.4.11 The table below illustrates the achievement of those who were disapplied from 
SATS and their length of time in care:

Period 
when 

entered 
care

Number of pupils
[% = of total cohort 

size of 7]

Reason for not 
completing SATs

Expected Progress

2017 2 Disapplied pupils EHCP for both
1 Held back 1 year
1 in hospital

2016 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends Special 
School

2014 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends Special 
School

2013 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends Special 
School residential

2011 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends Special 
School residential

2009 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends Special 
School

All pupils are making 
expected progress 
from prior attainment 
and on their individual 
education plans.

3.4.12 Planned interventions as a result of this data will include:

 Virtual school staff visiting every current Year 6 pupil’s school in 
Autumn17/Spring term 18

Page 87



 PEP meetings held for every Year 6 in Autumn term 17
 Programme of tuition and/or intervention in place for every Year 6, linked to 

Pupil Premium Plus Grant
 Target support and interventions for current Year 5 cohort
 Support for transition of pupils in Year 7 who did not meet the expected 

standard
 Support for those pupils in Year 7 who have SEND to ensure that the 

provision is matching need. 

3.5 Key Stage 4 GCSE Non-Validated Results [Year 11 – Age 15-16] 

3.5.1 The following section of this report includes the 2017 data for GCSE. 
Progress 8 and Attainment 8 is not being reported in the following section due 
to the availability of data at the time of this report being compiled. The 2017 
data will include the performance of all pupils in the 2016-2017 Year 11 Virtual 
School Cohort. This is irrespective of the length of time in care. The 
information for this report is currently Non-Validated data. 

3.5.2 When adolescents come into care during this time it is usually unplanned and 
in an emergency situation. This makes it extremely difficult for placements 
and education to be found in parallel. In the vast majority of cases when a 
young person is without education, it is extremely difficult to provide them with 
a school place. Schools are reluctant take a Year 11 pupil into their school 
citing the reason that they are not able to match their GCSE modules. This is 
even more difficult for those who have no English language. 

3.5.3 The numbers of pupils in care in Year 11 by entering care date is illustrated in 
the graph below. Potentially the length of time in care affects the educational 
outcomes. This graph does not illustrate the fact that 8 pupils [20%] became 
looked after in the academic year 2016/17, that is, from September 2016. This 
made it extremely difficult for the Virtual School and Social Care to have an 
impact on attainment for GCSEs in that short space of time. In total 17 pupils 
[42%] became looked after from January 2016 when in Year 10 or in Year 11.

Page 88



3

7

4

3

1

3

2

4

7

1 1

0

2

1 1

5

4

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Boys Girls Boys UASC

Numbers of Pupils in Year 11 By Entering Care Date

3.5.4 Key Headline Data for whole cohort of 40

 There were a total of 40 pupils in the year 11 cohort and 23 pupils 
[57.5%] were eligible to take 5 GCSEs

 Although the cohort is reduced from last year’s size of 55 pupils to 40, 
more students were eligible for taking GCSEs this year which is an 
improvement from the previous academic year

 Indicative data shows that 5 pupils [12.5%] of the total cohort achieved 
5 A*-C grades at GCSE including English and Maths. This is an 
improvement on last year’s 9% although there is no requirement to 
report on 5 A*-Cs and there will be no national data comparisons or 
Thurrock data comparison as this is no longer reported

 8 pupils [20%] achieved English and maths combined for the equivalent 
of grace C [point 4] or above

 For English language, 7 pupils [18%] achieved the expected standard 
or above

 In English literature, 9 pupils [23%] achieved the expected standard or 
above

 In Maths, 11 pupils [27%] achieved the expected standard or above.

3.5.5 Key Headline Data for cohort of those eligible for GCSE exams 23 pupils

 Indicative data shows that 5 pupils [22%] of the total cohort achieved 5 
A*-C grades at GCSE including English and Maths

 8 pupils [35%] achieved English and maths combined for the equivalent 
of grade C [point 4] or above

 For English language, 7 pupils [30%] achieved the expected standard 
or above

Page 89



 In English literature, 9 pupils [39%] achieved the expected standard or 
above

 In Maths, 11 pupils [48%] achieved the expected standard or above.

3.5.6 The graphs below demonstrate the improvements that Thurrock CLA have 
made compared to the previous 2016 cohort

9
13 14

20 23
27

42

53 53
61

70 68

EN&MA English Maths

CLA 16 CLA 17 Thurrock Disadvantaged Thurrock NCLA

2017 Non-Validated KS4 
[All pupils irrespective of time in care 40 Cohort]

Graph Depicts Comparison between Year 11 cohort of 40 in 2017 against all
Thurrock Pupils and attainment against CLA in 2016 – includes Thurrock 
Disadvantaged 2017.

26

37

27
35

39

48
42

53 53
61

70 68

EN&MA English Maths

CLA 16 CLA 17 Thurrock Disadvantaged Thurrock NCLA

2017 Non-Validated KS4 
[All pupils eligible for GCSE 23 Cohort ]

Page 90



Graph Depicts Comparison between Year 11 cohort of 23 in 2017 against all 
Thurrock Pupils and attainment against CLA in 2016 – includes Thurrock 
Disadvantaged 2017.

3.5.7 The above data demonstrates that there has been a marked improvement in 
this years’ attainment for the whole cohort and for those eligible for taking 
GCSEs. The two graphs illustrate an improving picture for Thurrock CLA and 
outcomes are improving. The attainment gaps are gradually decreasing. In 
terms of attainment at GCSE level this year, it has increased significantly for 
the cohort of 40.

3.5.8 There are specific reasons as to why not all of the 40 pupils were able to sit 
GCSE qualifications. It is important that this report includes these young 
people and accounts for their education outcomes. 

3.5.9 28 pupils [70%] of our year 11 pupils looked after by the local authority 
attended a provision that was out of borough, of which 7 [25%] students were 
in specialist provision. Specialist provision includes alternative provision, 
residential specialist schools, and SEND schools. These placements matched 
the needs of the pupils at that time, based upon their social care and 
educational needs. Where possible these students sat formal qualifications 
which included GCSE, BTEC, functional skills or Entry Level. However, this 
did mean that they were not at the level to study 5 GCSEs or English and 
maths. It is important to note that these students obtained positive outcomes 
for them based upon their needs and their academic level or educational 
ability at the time.

3.5.10 A total of 15 students [37%] did not sit formal qualifications. This was due to 
SEND needs, being UASC and learning English as an additional language or 
attending alternative education providers. There were 2 pupils who were 
missing education at the time of their exams due to the time that they came 
into care and the need for their care placement to be moved. These students 
were receiving tuition in their home and have college placements starting in 
September 17.

3.5.11 Additionally 18 pupils [45%] of the cohort had SEND needs with 7 pupils 
[18%] with EHCPs or Statements. These students did not achieve above 
grade C in their exams if they were eligible for GCSE. Those students who 
have SEND Support took qualifications matched to their individual needs with 
some able to sit GCSEs. Despite not reaching grade C or above, they did 
meet their target grades to enable them to enrol at colleges for post 16 
courses.

3.5.12 The length of time in care for this cohort has supported the educational 
progress of these pupils. Of those students who have been in care the 
longest, the majority have SEND needs. Although they may not have 
achieved a full range of GCSE qualifications, their placement and education 
needs were met in the appropriate provision. Those students who had been in 
care for a length of time who were able to sit GCSE qualifications did achieve 

Page 91



pass grades and made appropriate progress against prior attainment. For 
example: all of the pupils who achieved 5 or more A*/9-C Grades in more than 
5 subjects including English and Maths have been in care for longer than 1 
year.

3.5.13 The number of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children UASC entering 
care in year 11 has decreased. In 15/16 42% of the cohort contained UASC 
pupils. In the academic year 16/17 10 pupils [25%] were UASC. This year we 
had two pupils who took a full complement of GCSE subjects. The remaining 
8 pupils took subjects linked to learning English, maths and science. Where 
possible schools try to support UASC students to access a full range of 
subjects but the priority for these young people is to learn English and make 
the best possible pathways for post 16 learning.

3.5.14 Monitoring and tracking was extensive for our year 11 cohort of pupils. All 
pupils had a termly PEP attended by a member of the Virtual School. Schools 
were required to provide termly tracking data and evidence how pupil 
premium plus was supporting learning and progress. In addition, 1-1 tuition 
was funded by the Virtual School through Fleet tuition services to key groups 
of pupils to support outcomes. This was in English and Maths.

3.5.15 Pupils attending alternative education providers took a range of entry level 
and vocational courses in order to prepare them for their post 16 pathways. 
These pupils were attending a variety of settings and completing different 
courses which they passed.

3.5.16 Planned actions as a result of 2017 data are continuing from the previous 
year with additional measures being taken. For example: tuition for year 11 
started in October 2017 rather than waiting until January 18. We are 
continuing to:

 Attend Year 10 and Year 11 PEP meetings
 Ensure that schools provide robust Pupil Premium Plus information
 Link the quality of the PEP with release of Pupil Premium Plus funding
 Provide additional home tuition and IT equipment when necessary
 Triangulate data predictions with further evidence such as work sampling
 Access exam stress counselling where necessary
 Provide support for Post 16 pathways
 Targeting tuition for particular students who are on the cusp of 4/5/C grades 

which will be additional to that received by the Pupil Premium Plus in school
 Complete home visits for particularly vulnerable students
 Provide intensive pastoral support alongside their school for high priority 

cases for those at risk of poor performance due to social and emotional 
difficulties

In addition we are:

 Providing half termly Designated Teacher Forums, monthly social worker 
forums and termly foster carer forums to promote the educational outcomes of 

Page 92



pupils by communicating key messages and training and to provide 
information advice and guidance for individual cases

 Supporting social care to minimise the change of school or college when 
there are placement changes

 Actively seeking to expand our team with professionals to build capacity and 
improve impact on outcomes for Children Looked After.

5. Additional Information for the Committee

5.1 Detailed within the annual report is an overview of progress towards last 
academic year’s school improvement priorities. The Virtual School 
Headteacher is particularly pleased with the improvement in attendance for 
CLA for the academic year as well as the improvements in Key Stage data. 
This year we are focussing on the following school improvement priorities.
To improve achievement of all pupils by:

 [Key Priority 1] Improving the attainment and progress of Children Looked 
After (CLA) to be in line with or above the national average outcomes for CLA 
for all Key Stages

 [Key Priority 2] Improving the attendance of CLA to maximise educational 
outcomes

 [Key Priority 3] Reduce the number of fixed term exclusions of CLA to ensure 
that they are receiving the maximum entitlement of education

 [Key Priority 4] Improve the quality of the PEP meeting and PEP 
documentation as a key driver for improving pupil academic outcomes by 
supporting needs and raising expectations

 [Key Priority 5] Improving systems of tracking, analysis and accountability to 
support educational outcomes for CLA.

 [Key Priority 6] Embed the new Virtual School team structure to support the 
needs of all CLA

5.2 These Key Priorities have been set in response to data analysis. We are 
aiming to reduce fixed term exclusion and we are putting in key actions and 
strategic documentation in response to these priorities. A detailed School 
Improvement Plan has been submitted to the Governing Board which 
specifies actions and timescales to improve outcomes for our CLA. These will 
be scrutinised by the Governing Board every term as part of the 
Headteacher’s report to Governors. 

5.3 The Virtual School Headteacher has successfully appointed a Post 16 and an 
Early Years/Primary Education Adviser for the part of the Virtual School team. 
These are working full-time and are supporting and challenging schools and 
colleges to improve outcomes and provision. A Secondary Education Adviser 
is due to start in post in January 2018.

6. Conclusion 

6.1 In summary, the above report details attainment outcomes for those in care 
during the academic year 2016-2017. All of our Children Looked After 

Page 93



achievements should be recognised and celebrated and we as a Council will 
continue to support them in the next stages of their academic journey.

7. Issues, Options and Analysis of Options

7.1 This section is not applicable as alternative options are not necessary for the 
purpose of this report. Any actions and analysis linked to the attainment of 
Children Looked After are embedded throughout the report. 

8. Reasons for Recommendation

8.1 It is requested that the Committee agree the recommendations and use the 
reporting mechanisms to support and challenge the work of the Virtual School 
on behalf of Children in Care.

9. Impact on corporate policies, priorities, performance and community 
impact

9.1 This report relates to the council priority to create a great place for learning 
and opportunity.

10. Implications

10.1 Financial 

Implications verified by: Nilufa Begum
Management Accountant 

This report asks that the Committee notes the increasing demand of services 
for Children Looked After and the range of services provided as detailed in the 
annual report. The responsibilities of the Virtual School have increased to 
support those in pre-school and in post 16 as a result of the changes to the 
Statutory Guidance in July 2014. The growing demand for services, 
particularly for those who are post 16 and/or needing alternative provision for 
their specific needs has had an implication on spending and budgets.

 
10.2 Legal 

Implications verified by: Lindsey Marks 
Principal Solicitor

This report asks that the Committee notes the outcomes, and offer its 
commendations, taking into account in so doing the various contextual 
influences described by the report author.  No decision is required.  The 
Council is required by s22(3A) of the Children Act 1989, as amended, to 
promote the educational achievement of looked after children.  The Children 
and Families Act 2014 amended s22 to require the Council to appoint an 
officer to ensure that the duty is properly discharged.  There is statutory 

Page 94



guidance “Promoting the education of looked after children” that must be 
followed in meeting this duty.  

10.3 Diversity and Equality 

Implications verified by: Rebecca Price 
Community Development Officer

Supporting the improved educational attainment of Children Looked After 
targets Thurrock’s most vulnerable young people. Data is collated to 
understand the profile of young people supported.  Individual plans are 
informed by each young person’s personal needs, including equality and 
diversity as well SEND and emotional health needs. 

10.4 Other implications (where significant) – i.e. Staff, Health, Sustainability, 
Crime and Disorder)

11. Background papers used in preparing the report (including their location 
on the Council’s website or identification whether any are exempt or protected 
by copyright):

 ‘The Educational Progress of Looked After Children in England: Linking 
Care and Educational Data’ ADCS

 ‘Promoting the Educational Achievement of Looked After Children’ DFE 
July 2014

12. Appendices to the report

 Annual Report of the Virtual School Headteacher Academic Year 
2016/2017

Report Author:

Keeley Pullen
Head Teacher of the Virtual School for Children Looked After
Children’s Services

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Annual Report of 
the Virtual School 

Headteacher
Academic Year

2016/2017

Page 97



2

Mission Statement

At the core, is the aspiration to ensure that children and young people are provided 
with every opportunity to learn effectively and develop their skills, knowledge and 
understanding so they are able to make informed choices about their futures from a 
range of options. This range will be at its widest when children succeed in their 
schools and are provided with the ambition, resilience and opportunity to optimise 
their learning within and beyond the school.  

The Virtual School believes that every child and young person really does matter; 
every child and young person has a right to a childhood and has the right to a first 
class education that enhances their life chances as an adult.  We believe that 
Children Looked After and Young People should be given every opportunity to aspire 
to be the best they can.

The Virtual School provides additional support, advice and guidance over and above 
the universal services that all Thurrock children and young people can access, 
alongside direct support to the children themselves.  We believe there should be no 
educational gaps between attainment and potential and there should be a narrowing 
of the gap between attainment and national standards.

The main outcomes we want for our children and young people accord with the 
Thurrock Children and Young People’s Plan and are that CLA:

 value themselves and grow up to be fair, tolerant and supportive, 
learning to respect others and enjoy the respect of others;

 are engaged in and are challenged by high quality education and 
enjoyable learning experiences;

 are able to show resilience and cope with change;
 are not disadvantaged by circumstance, poverty, disability or race;
 seek out and engage in opportunities for self-improvement, with the 

guidance and support of multiagency teams;
 achieve recognised and appropriate qualifications in line with their 

academic potential, so they access a wide range of training, 
employment and further education opportunities when they leave 
school, allowing them to take an active and full role in society as adults.

To achieve this, The Virtual School will work in partnership with schools, educational 
settings and social care to create a high quality experience for Children Looked After 
and Young People. 

Page 98



3

Corporate Parenting Committee

The Virtual School Head Teacher is accountable to the Corporate Parenting 
Committee for the educational achievement of Children Looked After [CLA]. The 
Committee comprises 8 Members and exists to ensure that all elements of the 
Council work together to ensure that the children looked after by Thurrock get the 
best possible service that can be offered. The Committee promotes the role of all 
Councillors as corporate parents and provides the robust vehicle for their mandate to 
be exercised on behalf of young people. There are also four Co-Opted Members of 
the Committee who each possess a range of knowledge and experience in order to 
advise Members and add to the scrutiny process. These include representatives 
from the Children in Care Council (CICC), Open Door and the Chair and Vice-Chair 
of the Thurrock One Team Foster Care Association. This committee meets termly 
and managers from different sectors of social care and education present reports 
and recommendations as part of a cycle. This process acts as a measure of 
accountability and supports the development of strategy and policy for meeting the 
statutory requirements for children in care.

Introduction and Overview

The Virtual School Headteacher has been in full-time post since June 2014. Since 
the previous Headteacher left her post in April 2013 the Virtual School team have 
continued to fulfil the core functions for supporting CLA in Thurrock and raising 
aspirations for this group.

Staffing of the Virtual School

Mrs Keeley Pullen – Virtual School Headteacher

Mrs Grace Page – LAC Advisory Assistant

Mrs Tina McGuinness – Business Administrator

Additional Consultants and Services [commissioned by Virtual School]

Miss Lee-Anne Jenkins – Post-16 Support

Fleet Tuition Service for provision of 1-1 tuition

Looked After Call – to monitor attendance

Page 99



4

Current Contextual Data

Number of Looked After Children by Year Group [Updated July 2017]

5 4
2

9
6

10
15 15

23
19 21

31
25

41

56

4

29

1 1 1 2 3

11

21

4

29

N1 N2 R Year 
1

Year 
2

Year 
3

Year 
4

Year 
5

Year 
6

Year 
7 

Year 
8

Year 
9

Year 
10

Year 
11

Year 
12

Year 
13

Post 
18

Number UASC

Numbers of Children Looked After by Year Group

Number of Pupils in Alternative Provision/SEND School/Specialist Provision 
by Year Group [Updated July 2017]

N1 N2 R YR
1

YR
2

YR
3

YR
4

YR
5

YR
6

YR
7

YR
8

YR
9

YR
10

YR
11

YR
12

YR
13

0 0 0 0 0 1 2 1 3 2 3 5 5 8 5 1

Number of CLA with SEND by Year Group [Updated July 2017]

N1 N2 R YR
1

YR
2

YR
3

YR
4

YR
5

YR
6

YR
7

YR
8

YR
9

YR
10

YR
11

YR
12

YR
13

0 0 0 2 1 4 6 8 8 6 11 11 10 14 10 19

Page 100



5

Attendance

93.9 95.29
86.6

94.6

4.89 3.3

11.49

2.91.21 1.61 4.91 2.5

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

% Attendance % Authorised % Unauthorised

% Attendance of CLA

Robust tracking of attendance is vital in ensuring that good attendance is prioritised. 
Attendance rates have improved compared to the previous year to 94.6%. For the 
forthcoming academic year, we are striving for above 95%.

There were 18 pupils who had persistent absence below 90%. Of these students 
some had been in hospital for extended periods of time due to sickness and 
operations. There have been 2 school refusers who have required additional 
support. A pastoral support programme is always put in place for students who are 
refusing to attend school and the Virtual School works closely with foster carers, 
social workers and their schools to support the child/young person.

Attendance was monitored daily through the use of Welfare Call until July 2016 and 
from September 2016 we have used Looked After Call. We have been very pleased 
with the service received from this company during this academic year and the 
Virtual School staff has received training to enable us to collate and analyse 
attendance data. 

The Virtual School Headteacher monitors the attendance of priority CLA as identified 
by the Virtual School on a weekly basis. Attendance monitoring for all pupils is 
conducted by the Virtual School Headteacher on a fortnightly basis to identify any 
concerns.

The Virtual School receives daily updates from Looked After Call for any pupil who is 
absent or excluded. If a pupil is absent and this is unauthorised the social worker 
and foster carer is contacted by Looked After Call to find out the reason why s/he is 
not at school. This system compliments the safeguarding measures that are in place 
for individual schools and prevents delay when a student may be missing.

Page 101



6

The Virtual School is supportive of the DFE Absence protocols and only supports 
holiday or absence in term time in extenuating circumstances and supports the 
school of the particular pupil if they are given an unauthorised absence if planned 
absence is taken without the school’s consent.

An attendance policy is in place and this is reviewed by the Headteacher annually 
and put forward to the Governing Body to approve.

Fixed Term Exclusions

Wherever possible we encourage schools to avoid fixed term exclusions. At times 
this is not possible due to the child/young person’s behaviour. A review of needs and 
support is always made whenever a CLA pupil is excluded. Although the number of 
exclusions has risen, it equates to a total number of 18 pupils who had exclusions 
during the academic year due to their challenging behaviour. There have been no 
permanent exclusions of CLA for a four year period. For the following academic year 
we will be setting school improvement targets to address the increase in fixed-term 
exclusion rates and increasing our level of challenge to schools who exclude. 

155.5

132.5

165.5

185

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Number

Number of Fixed Term Exclusions

Children Missing Education [CME]

The Local Authority carefully monitors any child missing education for those CLA 
placed in and out of borough. The Virtual School produces weekly data for any child 
who is missing education due to lack of a school place or through extended absence. 
This data is shared and discussed in Directors Management Team monthly. Monthly 
CME data is available and provided to Governors on a termly basis. The Virtual 
School takes action which is individualised to meet the needs of the pupils and 
where necessary, works with the Admissions Team, Inclusion Manager and SEN 
Service teams in Thurrock and other boroughs to secure school places or alternative 

Page 102



7

provision. For pupils who are without an educational placement, a Personal 
Education Plan [PEP] meeting is held to plan actions for how to secure education 
provision. Wherever possible the Virtual School provides tuition through Fleet Tuition 
Services whilst a student is between educational placements. For the following 
academic year 2017/18 the Virtual School will also be commissioning an online 
tuition service to support those who are missing education. This is a company which 
currently serves a variety of Virtual Schools in other authorities and we are hoping 
that this can be a far speedier response for students who are missing education as 
this tuition can be set up within 48 hours.

9

3

12

4
2

1

3 2 2 3 2

Sep-16 Oct-16 Nov-16 Dec-16 Jan-17 Feb-17 Mar-17 Apr-17 May-17 Jun-17 Jul-17

Number

Number of CME Per Month School Age

The table highlights a fluctuation of figures and this very much depends on the profile 
of pupils coming into care and whether they have education prior to becoming looked 
after or if they have to move away from their school due to placement availability in 
borough. The figures are relatively low, however, the virtual school staff work very 
hard to access education as soon as they are made aware that there is a child 
missing education. 

Child Sexual Exploitation [CSE]

All Virtual School Staff have attended Child Sexual Exploitation Training. Particular 
attention is paid to Children Missing Education through lack of school place or poor 
attendance as this is a potential factor for making a pupil vulnerable and higher risk 
of CSE. The Virtual School works very closely with all services to minimise the risk of 
child sexual exploitation for our children/young people in and out of borough. The 
authority holds a fortnightly meeting where a range of partners from health, youth 
offending services, WIZE Up, the police, mental health, education welfare and 
education attend. In this meeting all vulnerable pupils are discussed and actions are 
directed to provide the necessary support. The Virtual School attend Strategy 
Meetings when required to discuss pupils at risk of CSE and when they are missing 
from placement. Separate data is available through the social care liquid logic 
children’s system which details every child/young person’s CSE risk assessment and 
actions taken to support them. This data is held and reported separately from this 

Page 103



8

document. The Virtual School is not responsible for collating this data but can access 
it if required.

Attainment Data of CLA

Early Years Foundation Stage 2017

The Good Level of Development (GLD) measure is awarded at the end of EYFS 
when a pupil has achieved at least the expected level in the entire prime areas of 
learning and in literacy and mathematics.

The GLD has fluctuated significantly over a 4 year period and this 
demonstrates the uniqueness and small size of each cohort. The size of each 
cohort shows that each child’s result is worth a significant percentage amount. 

The diagram below illustrates the performance of Thurrock CLA against 
national and Thurrock non-CLA pupils. The Department for Education does 
not provide national data comparisons for Children Looked After in the area of 
a Good Level of Development.

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16 2016-17
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

Thurrock
England
CLA
Cohort Size

Good Level of Development 4 year trend

To reach the percentage of children making a good level of development, 
each child is assessed against 17 Early Learning Goals; whether she/he 
meets the level, has not yet reached the level or exceeded it and points are 
awarded accordingly in a range between 17 to 51. If a child meets every Early 
Learning Goal, she/he will receive at least 34 points. 

Page 104



9

The provisional GLD result for Thurrock CLA demonstrates a declining trend. 
However, this result is based on 2 pupils who were still in care at the end of 
the academic year. There were 8 pupils who were in care at some stage 
during their reception year but these were in care for less than their academic 
Reception year. Out of the 8 pupils who were in care at some point during 
their Reception year, [4 children – 50% achieved a GLD]. Of the 2 pupils who 
had been in care for 1 year or more, and had subsequently left care during 
their Reception year, 50% [1 pupil] achieved GLD.

The academic profile of the 2016/17 cohort saw that 50% of the 8 pupil cohort 
was applicable for Special Educational Needs and Disabilities [SEND] 
classification and they are receiving additional support in school. Pupils with 
SEND have specific learning needs and require extra support. Therefore, 50% 
of the cohort were working significantly below the national average according 
to development matters which assessed their learning at below their 
chronological age. In addition, these pupils had a larger gap to close in order 
to meet a Good Level of Development. They were provided with additional 
support in their schools through group and individual support interventions. It 
aided them in their progress and enabled them to catch up with their peers to 
make expected progress across the year, even if they did not meet the 
expected standards.

In terms of monitoring and progress this was through the Personal Education 
Plans [PEPs] for each pupil. These took place every term that the child was 
looked after and detailed the learning and development for every pupil and 
specific targets were set to enable them to make progress. Pupils made 
progress across the year by achieving their targets and by the Virtual School 
holding schools to account for the quality of teaching and support they 
provided and by the use and impact of Pupil Premium Plus funding. All pupils 
in this cohort made at least expected progress across the academic year from 
their on entry starting points.

At the time of writing this report only 2 pupils have moved year group in the 
Virtual School cohort up to Year 1 as the others are no longer looked after.

Planned Action by the Virtual School in response to the 2017 data

 Ensure that Transition arrangements have been effectively put in place to 
support the pupils as they move into Year 1.

 Monitor pupil progress through the use of the Pupil Premium monitoring and 
work with schools to ensure correct level of support is provided.

 Link with schools needing additional support.
 Obtain on entry data for current Year R cohort to enable the measurement of 

progress.

Page 105



10

 Ensure that pupils in Nursery have a termly PEP meeting with a member of 
the Early Years Team co-coordinating this to check that they are making 
appropriate progress and that Early Years Pupil Premium funding is being 
allocated to suit individual needs and measuring impact of this.

Year 1 Phonics Score Results 2017

The year 1 phonics screening check is undertaken in June by all year 1 pupils and 
those pupils in year 2 who did not achieve age related expectations whilst in year 1. 

The percentage of children who reached the expected standard has decreased 
compared to the previous year. The data for 2015 was based upon a cohort of 7 
pupils, 4 [57%] of whom passed. In 2016 there were 9 year 1 pupils in the cohort and 
7 pupils [78%] passed the screen. In 2017 there were 8 pupils in the cohort and 5 
pupils [63%] passed the screen. 

This is illustrated in the table below

Year Total Cohort Size Number who passed
2015 7 4 pupils – 57%
2016 9 7 pupils – 78%
2017 8 5 pupils – 63%

76 76
83 84

74 77
81 81

44

57

78

63

2014 2015 2016 2017

Thurrock National Thurrock CLA

Y1 Phonics Screening Check

 

The data is fluctuating however, it is difficult to gauge trends when analysing such 
small cohort sizes. The different needs and circumstances, including length of time in 
care, needs to be considered. It is important to recognise the individual nature of 
every year 1 pupil and therefore, the Personal Education Plan process is crucial in 
this respect for identifying their educational needs. Foster carers have an important 

Page 106



11

role to play in supporting the acquisition of phonics and early reading skills. In 
particular, regular sharing of books and completing phonic activities at home. 

Planned Action by the Virtual School in response to the 2017 data

This year the Virtual School will continue to speak with schools to discuss their 
phonics provision to ensure that those who did not reach the expected standard are 
supported during Year 2. Those Year 2 pupils who needed to re-sit from the previous 
year [2016] totalled 5 children. 3 pupils [60%] passed. The two who did not are 
currently going through the EHCP process but they have improved on their score 
from the previous year. As a result of the decline in those meeting the standard for 
phonics, the Virtual School will be creating home learning packs and offering foster 
carers phonics training so that they can support their young learners at home.

Stage 1 (age 7, year 2) 2016

Validated data

74

66

73

60

Reading Writing Maths Combined
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Thurrock NCLA
National NCLA
CLA
Eastern CLA
National CLA

DFE % pupils assessed as working at or exceeding  the 
Expected Standard KS1

Graph of Validated 2016 Data Comparing Thurrock CLA to National and Eastern

The previous annual report demonstrated indicative data for all pupils in the Virtual 
School cohort for 2016 irrespective of their length of time in care. The data shown in 
the table above is validated data which the Department for Education use for those 
pupils in care for more than a year. 

When comparing the performance of Thurrock Children Looked after against the 
performance of all CLA nationally and those within the Eastern Region boroughs 

Page 107



12

Thurrock CLA are exceeding in writing and maths and were in line nationally and 
above Eastern for reading. 

Key Stage 1 (age 7, year 2) 2017

Non-Validated data

From 2016, KS1 assessments are no longer reported as levels and cannot be 
compared to previous years. 

 In the graph below, it is possible to see how Children Looked After performed 
against National and Thurrock non-CLA. The table does not include National 
CLA performance data as this is not available at the time of this report.

75

68

75

63

Reading Writing Maths Combined
0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

Thurrock
National
CLA

% pupils assessed as working at or exceeding  the 
Expected Standard KS1 2017

Graph of Non-Validated Results Comparison for National and Thurrock Non-
CLA [2017] 

Table of Results of Thurrock CLA [11 pupils in cohort] 2017

Subject Number
of Pupils

Percentage [2017] National CLA [2016]

Reading 8 73% 50%
Writing 7 64% 37%
Maths 7 64% 46%
Combined 6 55% Not provided

The above data is based upon a cohort size of 11 pupils. This is a very small 
data set for comparison particularly when comparing against very large 
numbers for Thurrock and all Year 2 Nationally. Analysis of this data indicates 

Page 108



13

that CLA have performed less well than their non-CLA peers nationally and 
Thurrock non-CLA pupils. However, the difference compared to non-CLA is 
diminishing. For example: it is only 2% below national for reading, 4% below 
national for writing and 9% below national for maths.

What is difficult to gauge is a comparison with those who are looked after 
nationally due to lack of data at the time of this report. However, when 
comparing performance to last year’s national CLA data we are significantly 
above in all areas.  In addition, a direct comparison of our in house data 
demonstrates that, the results for our KS1 pupils have improved this year.  
This is shown in the next graph.

58
50

58
50

73
64 64

55

Reading Writing Maths RWM 

CLA 16 CLA 17

2017 Provisional KS1 Assessed as working at or 
exceeding expected  [All pupils irrespective of time in care direct 

comparison]

Contextual data for the cohort shows that only 1 [9%] of the 11 pupils were in 
an out of borough school. All pupils [100%] who achieved the combined score 
in reading, writing and maths attended a Thurrock school. This would indicate 
that those who did well attended a Thurrock school. This may well reflect the 
effective school improvement structures employed by Thurrock Council 
School’s Improvement team as well as the strong relationships that the Virtual 
School Head has with Thurrock Head teachers who share the commitment for 
raising standards for all children in the borough.

The Virtual School maintains the same tracking and monitoring systems for all 
pupils irrespective of placement. The Personal Education Plan procedures are 
the same and the expectations and accountability measures are the same. All 
pupils across the year made expected progress based upon their individual 
targets and prior attainment.

Page 109



14

In terms of prior attainment, only 7 pupils [64%] of the cohort obtained a good 
level of development at the end of their reception year two years prior to the 
Key Stage 1 assessments. This would suggest that the rate of attainment and 
progress for these pupils has remained consistent across key stage 1. These 
pupils would have needed to make accelerated progress in that time to be 
able to reach the expected standard. 1 pupil [25%] out of the 4 who did not 
reach GLD at the end of the Foundation Stage reached the expected standard 
at KS1.

The length of time in care varied for this cohort. Length of time in care is 
shown in the table below:

Period when 
entered care

Number of 
pupils

[% = of total 
cohort size of 

11]

Met expected 
standard [% of 
those in this 

period]

2017 3 pupils [27%] 2 pupils [67%]
2016 4 pupils [36%] 3 pupils [75%]
2015 0 pupils
2014 0 pupils
2013 2 pupils [18%] 0
2012 2 pupils [18%] 1 pupil [50%]

The data in the table above would suggest that the length of time in care has 
not impacted on this group in terms of attainment. It is worth noting that, of the 
2 pupils who have been in care the longest, the one pupil who did not reach 
expected standard only did not meet it in maths. It was met in reading and 
writing. 
Of the 2 pupils who have been in care since 2013 who did not meet the 
standard, 1 is currently going through the EHCP process and 1 met the 
standards in reading and maths but not writing.
It should also be noted that 5 pupils [45%] have left care during the academic 
year; however, data has still been collected as they were looked after at some 
point during this academic year.
Only 2 pupils in the cohort [18%] are SEN support, 1 of these is currently 
going through the EHCP process.

Planned Action by the Virtual School in response to the 2017 data.

 Ensure that Transition arrangements have been effectively put in place to 
support the pupils’ move into Year 3

 Monitor pupil progress through use of the Pupil Premium monitoring and work 
with schools to ensure correct level of support is provided

 PEP meeting in place within the Autumn term 2017
 Link with schools needing additional support
 Monitor progress for current year 3 to check that those who did not meet the 

expected standard are being appropriately supported.

Page 110



15

Key Stage 2 SATS 2016
Validated Data

62

71 68
75

51

66
72 70

74

53

44

56

67 67

33
38

44

36
43

23

41 43 41
46

25

Reading GPS Maths Writing RWM 

Thurrock NCLA National NCLA TCLA Eastern CLA National CLA

2016 DFE KS2 Attainment - in care for 1 year or more

The previous annual report provided details of the Non-Validated data for the KS2 
2016 SATS. The above data is validated data which displays the performance of 
Thurrock CLA who have been in care for 1 year or more compared to those 
nationally and in the Eastern Region.

Thurrock Children Looked After performed better than national and Eastern Region 
CLA. Performance was significant in the areas of writing, GPS and maths. The DFE 
Statistical First Release shows that Thurrock CLA progress from KS1 and KS2 was 
exceptional and significantly above National and Regional CLA rates of progress.

Key Stage 2 SATS 2017
Non-Validated Data

From 2016, the new more challenging national curriculum, which was introduced in 
2014, was assessed by new tests and interim frameworks for teacher assessment. 
KS2 results are no longer reported as levels: each pupil receives their test results as 
a scaled score and teacher assessments based on the standards in the interim 
framework.

The cohort size for the 2017 Key Stage 2 SATS was 16 pupils. There were a 
further 7 pupils who were disapplied from SATS due to the setting they 
attended or SEND needs. Therefore the decision has been made to dis-apply 
them from the reporting requirements. The data provided is based upon 
attainment for those 16 pupils who took the tests.

Page 111



16

For Thurrock CLA the statistics for those achieving the expected standard 
were as follows: reading 56% [9 pupils], GPS 44% [7 pupils], maths 62% [10 
pupils] and writing was 50% [8 pupils]. The graph below illustrates the 
comparisons with non-CLA nationally and all pupils in Thurrock for 2017 
results. National CLA statistical comparisons are not available at the time of 
this report due to the time of publication of the Statistical First Release.

69
77 75 78

61

71
76 74 76

61
56

44

62

50
44

Reading GPS Maths Writing RWM 

Thurrock NCLA National NCLA Thurrock CLA

2017 Provisional KS2 assessment data

Graph of Non-Validated Results Comparison for National and Thurrock Non-CLA 
[2017]

Children Looked After were below all Thurrock and National children in all 
areas. However, consideration should be given that this is comparing 16 
pupils with a large number of children across the country and the borough. 
The biggest areas for development based upon this 2017 data would be 
Grammar, Punctuation and Spelling [GPS] and writing. 

The following graph illustrates the comparison between Thurrock CLA over 2 
years of the new testing regime. What is good news is the increase in the 
number of pupils reaching the expected standard from 25% in 2016 to 56% 
this year in reading. There has been a significant increase in those pupils 
achieving a combined score in reading, writing and maths. The graph also 
illustrates the comparison against last year’s CLA national data in the 
absence of current CLA data.

Page 112



17

25

42

58 58

25

56

44

62

50
44

41 43 41
46

25

Reading GPS Maths Writing RWM 

CLA 16 CLA 17 National CLA 16

2017 Non-Validated KS2 assessment data 2 year trend 
[All pupils irrespective of time in care direct comparison]

Monitoring and tracking was extensive for this cohort of pupils. Schools were 
required to provide termly tracking data and evidence how pupil premium plus 
was supporting learning and progress. 

15 pupils out of the 16 who took their tests [94%] made at least expected 
progress from their prior attainment at Key Stage 1. Some made greater than 
expected progress. 1 pupil who did not make as much progress was due to 
missing school for being in hospital for much of year 5 and an Education 
Healthcare Plan is currently being applied for to support in Year 7.

Prior attainment at Key Stage 1 for this cohort was low with only 8 pupils 
[50%] were reaching level 2B+ in reading, 6 pupils [37%] reaching 2B+ in 
writing and 7 pupils [44%] achieving 2B+ in maths. Progress measures from 
the Department for Education will be published later this academic year so a 
better analysis of progress can be provided. However, this prior data would 
suggest that pupils were not expected to reach the required standard at Key 
Stage 2 as over 60% of the cohort was below national average previously. 
This progress measure would suggest that although pupils did not meet the 
expected standards, their rate of progress was at least good. 

The Year 6 cohort contained 6 pupils [37%] out of the 16 entered for SATS 
with SEND. As mentioned above, pupils with SEND have additional learning 
and/or emotional needs which affect their learning and this affected their 
attainment within the harder tests. However, these pupils made at least 
expected progress except for 1 pupil as mentioned above.

Page 113



18

The length of time in care varied for this cohort between 2011 and 2017. The 
table below illustrates this:

Period when 
entered care

Number of 
pupils

[% = of total 
cohort size of 

16]

Met expected 
KS2 standard 

RWM
 [% of those in 

this period]

Met expected 
KS1 standard 

in RWM

Expected 
Progress

[% of those 
in this 
period]

2017 6 pupils [37%] 3 pupils [50%] 2 pupils [33%] 6 pupils 
[100%]

2016 1 pupil [6%] 0 [0%] 0 1 pupil 
[100%]

2015 3 pupils [19%] 2 [67%] 1 pupil [33%] 3 pupils 
[100%]

2013 1 pupil [6%] 1 [100] 0 1 pupil 
[100%]

2012 4 pupils [25%] 2 [50%] 2 pupils [50%] 3 pupils 
[75%]

2011 1 pupil [6%] 0 [0%] 0 1 pupil 
[100%]

Those who were disapplied by length of time in care:

Period when 
entered care

Number of pupils
[% = of total 

cohort size of 7]

Reason for not 
completing SATs

Expected 
Progress

2017 2 Disapplied pupils EHCP for both
1 Held back 1 year
1 in hospital

2016 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends 
Special School

2014 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends 
Special School

2013 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends 
Special School 
residential

2011 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends 
Special School 
residential

2009 Disapplied
1 pupil

EHCP attends 
Special School

All pupils are 
making expected 
progress from prior 
attainment and on 
their individual 
education plans.

Page 114



19

Planned interventions as a result of data for 2017 Year 6 Cohort:

 Virtual school staff visiting every current Year 6 pupil’s school in 
Autumn17/Spring term 18

 PEP meetings held for every Year 6 in Autumn term 17
 Programme of tuition and/or intervention in place for every Year 6, linked to 

Pupil Premium Plus Grant
 Target support and interventions for current Year 5 cohort
 Support for transition of pupils in Year 7 who did not meet the expected 

standard
 Support for those pupils in Year 7 who have SEND to ensure that the 

provision is matching need. 

Key Stage 4 GCSE Results 2016 

Validated results - DFE Statistical First Release Results

Results for Thurrock CLA show an improvement from last year and the gap against 
national CLA is starting to close.

GCSE KS4 (age 16) 

Provisional results for Thurrock CLA showed an improvement from last year 
and the gap against National CLA is starting to close. The data provided for 
the previous annual report and Corporate Parenting Committee in January 17 
was based upon a cohort size of 55 pupils. The Department for Education 
[DFE] Statistical First Release Data provides attainment information for 20 
pupils who were in care for 12 months or more. DFE data verifies that there is 
an upward trend and a closing of the gap for KS4 attainment with Thurrock 
CLA performing above National and Eastern Region CLA for 5 GCSEs A*-C 
including English and maths and in the new measures of Progress 8 and 
Attainment 8.

DFE data shows that 4 pupils [20%] of the total DFE cohort of 20 pupils 
achieved 5 A*-C grades at GCSE including English and Maths. 

The graph below highlights the improvement in outcomes against national 
CLA data and Thurrock all pupils’ data. The Virtual School is very proud of the 
achievements of these young people and it should now be noted that many of 
our students who missed either English or Maths by 1 grade have already 
achieved their C grade or are in the process of re-sitting during Year 12. We 
are currently waiting for their results.

Page 115



20

2013-14 2014-15 2015-16
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

65

Thurrock CLA
England CLA
Thurrock ALL
Eastern CLA

CLA outcomes against total DFE 2016 cohort
 [20 pupils]

Key Stage 4 GCSE 5+ A*- C inc En & Ma

DFE Validated Thurrock CLA results 2016

An additional attainment measure for KS4 was introduced in the academic 
year 2015/16. This is called Progress 8 and Attainment 8. This is beyond the 
5 GCSEs benchmark and now focusses on students achieving an even higher 
standard of 8 GCSEs graded above C or above 4 in English and Maths. The 
chart below illustrates the success that our 15 eligible young people achieved 
against national and regional CLA. 

Progress 8 and Attainment 8 data is very favourable for Thurrock CLA 
compared to national and the Eastern region. A score of 0.27 is very good as 
the national average is 0 and the aim is to be as close to 0 as possible. 
Thurrock CLA’s Attainment 8 data is higher than national and Eastern region. 
This means that in all areas of performance at Key Stage 4, Thurrock CLA 
have performed better than national and Eastern region CLA.

Page 116



21

-0.27

23.5

-1.1

22.8

0.97

22.7

Progress 8 Attainment 8

Thurrock CLA National CLA Eastern CLA

2016 DFE KS4 Progress 8 Attainment [15 pupils]

DFE Validated Data Thurrock CLA results 2016

Key Stage 4 GCSE Results 2017 

Non-Validated Results 

The following section of this report includes the 2017 data for GCSE. Progress 8 and 
Attainment 8 is not being reported in the following section due to the availability of 
data at the time of this report being compiled.

The 2017 data will include the performance of all pupils in the 2016-2017 Year 11 
Virtual School cohort irrespective of the length of time in care.

The information used for this report is currently Non-Validated data.

Page 117



22

3

7

4

3

1

3

2

4

7

1 1

0

2

1 1

5

4

2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004

Boys Girls Boys UASC

Numbers of Pupils in Year 11 By Entering Care Date

The graph above shows the period when various pupils in Year 11 became looked 
after. Potentially the length of time in care will affect educational outcomes.

When adolescents come into care during this time it is usually unplanned and in an 
emergency situation. This makes it extremely difficult for placements and education 
to be found in parallel. In the vast majority of cases when a young person is without 
education, it is extremely difficult to provide them with a school place. Schools are 
reluctant take a Year 11 pupil into their school citing the reason that they are not able 
to match their GCSE modules. This is even more difficult for those who have no 
English language.

This graph does not illustrate the fact that 8 pupils [20%] became looked after in the 
academic year 2016/17, that is, from September 2016. This made it extremely 
difficult for the Virtual School and Social Care to have an impact on attainment for 
GCSEs in that short space of time. In total 17 pupils [42%] became looked after from 
January 2016 when in Year 10 or in Year 11.

When a young person is taken into care it is often an extremely traumatic time for 
them. This would potentially affect their ability to perform in the GCSE exams as their 
focus may be elsewhere. The lateness of them coming into care also means that 
services have not been able to support education as extensively prior to them 
entering care. They may not be in full time mainstream education before becoming 
looked after, their attendance could be poor. The may have missed significant parts 
of schooling and are therefore trying to catch up. If they do attend a school prior to 
becoming looked after, they may not have been entered for qualifications due to their 
ability or previous educational performance. All of these factors should be 
considered when looking at the achievements of these young people.

Page 118



23

Key Headline Data [Cohort of 40]:

 There were a total of 40 pupils in the year 11 cohort and 23 pupils [57.5%] 
were eligible to take 5 GCSEs

 Although the cohort is reduced from last year’s size of 55 pupils to 40, more 
students were eligible for taking GCSEs this year which is an improvement 
from the previous academic year

 Indicative data shows that 5 pupils [12.5%] of the total cohort achieved 5 A*-C 
grades at GCSE including English and Maths. This is an improvement on last 
year’s 9% although there is no requirement to report on 5 A*-Cs and there will 
be no national data comparisons or Thurrock data comparison as this is no 
longer reported

 8 pupils [20%] achieved English and maths combined for the equivalent of 
grace C [point 4] or above

 For English language, 7 pupils [18%] achieved the expected standard or 
above

 In English literature, 9 pupils [23%] achieved the expected standard or above
 In Maths, 11 pupils [27%] achieved the expected standard or above.

Key Headline Data [Cohort of 23 eligible for GCSE]:

 Indicative data shows that 5 pupils [22%] of the total cohort achieved 5 A*-C 
grades at GCSE including English and Maths

 8 pupils [35%] achieved English and maths combined for the equivalent of 
grade C [point 4] or above

 For English language, 7 pupils [30%] achieved the expected standard or 
above

 In English literature, 9 pupils [39%] achieved the expected standard or above
 In Maths, 11 pupils [48%] achieved the expected standard or above.

The graphs below demonstrate the improvements that Thurrock CLA pupils have 
made compared to the previous 2016 cohort.

Page 119



24

9
13 14

20 23
27

42

53 53
61

70 68

EN&MA English Maths

CLA 16 CLA 17 Thurrock Disadvantaged Thurrock NCLA

2017 Non-Validated KS4 
[All pupils irrespective of time in care 40 Cohort]

Graph Depicts Comparison between Year 11 cohort of 40 in 2017 against all Thurrock Pupils 
and attainment against CLA in 2016 – includes Thurrock Disadvantaged 2017.

26

37

27
35

39

48
42

53 53
61

70 68

EN&MA English Maths

CLA 16 CLA 17 Thurrock Disadvantaged Thurrock NCLA

2017 Non-Validated KS4 
[All pupils eligible for GCSE 23 Cohort ]

Graph Depicts Comparison between Year 11 cohort of 23 in 2017 against all Thurrock Pupils 
and attainment against CLA in 2016 – includes Thurrock Disadvantaged 2017.

The above data demonstrates that there has been a marked improvement in this 
years’ attainment for the whole cohort and for those eligible for taking GCSEs. The 
two graphs illustrate an improving picture for Thurrock CLA and outcomes are 
improving. The attainment gaps are gradually decreasing. In terms of attainment at 
GCSE level this year, it has increased significantly for the cohort of 40.

Page 120



25

Additional Information for Key Stage 4 Cohort

 There are specific reasons as to why not all of the 40 pupils were able to sit 
GCSE qualifications. It is important that this report includes these young 
people and accounts for their educational outcomes

28 pupils [70%] of our year 11 pupils looked after by the local authority 
attended a provision that was out of borough, of which 7 [25%] students were 
in specialist provision. Specialist provision includes alternative provision, 
residential specialist schools, and SEND schools. These placements matched 
the needs of the pupils at that time, based upon their social care and 
educational needs. Where possible these students sat formal qualifications 
which included GCSE, BTEC, functional skills or Entry Level. However, this 
did mean that they were not at the level to study 5 GCSEs or English and 
maths. It is important to note that these students obtained positive outcomes 
for them based upon their needs and their academic level or educational 
ability at the time.

A total of 15 students [37%] did not sit formal qualifications. This was due to 
SEND needs, being UASC and learning English as an additional language or 
attending alternative education providers. There were 2 pupils who were 
missing education at the time of their exams due to the time that they came 
into care and the need for their care placement to be moved. These students 
were receiving tuition in their home and have college placements starting in 
September 17.

Additionally 18 pupils [45%] of the cohort had SEND needs with 7 pupils 
[18%] with EHCPs or Statements. These students did not achieve above 
grade C in their exams if they were eligible for GCSE. Those students who 
have SEND Support took qualifications matched to their individual needs with 
some able to sit GCSEs. Despite not reaching grade C or above, they did 
meet their target grades to enable them to enrol at colleges for post 16 
courses.

 The length of time in care for this cohort has supported the educational 
progress of these pupils. Of those students who have been in care the 
longest, the majority have SEND needs. Although they may not have 
achieved a full range of GCSE qualifications, their placement and education 
needs were met in the appropriate provision. Those students who had been in 
care for a length of time who were able to sit GCSE qualifications did achieve 
pass grades and made appropriate progress against prior attainment. For 
example: all of the pupils who achieved 5 or more A*/9-C Grades in more than 
5 subjects including English and Maths have been in care for longer than 1 
year.

Page 121



26

The number of Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children UASC entering 
care in year 11 has decreased. In 15/16 42% of the cohort contained UASC 
pupils. In the academic year 16/17 10 pupils [25%] were UASC. This year we 
had two pupils who took a full complement of GCSE subjects. The remaining 
8 pupils took subjects linked to learning English, maths and science. Where 
possible schools try to support UASC students to access a full range of 
subjects but the priority for these young people is to learn English and make 
the best possible pathways for post 16 learning.

The graph above illustrates when our UASC came into care. It is a challenge 
to find suitable educational places that can support the needs of these 
vulnerable pupils. The Virtual School assists with obtaining school places 
wherever possible or sourcing appropriate English Studied as an Other 
Language [ESOL] provision.

Monitoring and tracking was extensive for our year 11 cohort of pupils. All 
pupils had a termly PEP attended by a member of the Virtual School. Schools 
were required to provide termly tracking data and evidence how pupil 
premium plus was supporting learning and progress. In addition, 1-1 tuition 
was funded by the Virtual School through Fleet tuition services to key groups 
of pupils to support outcomes. This was in English and Maths.

Pupils attending alternative education providers took a range of entry level 
and vocational courses in order to prepare them for their post 16 pathways. 
These pupils were attending a variety of settings and completing different 
courses which they passed.

Planned interventions as a result of 2017 data

The Virtual School will continue with key actions that were begun last year and some 
additional measures are being taken. 

We are continuing to:

 Attend Year 10 and Year 11 PEP meetings
 Ensure that schools provide robust Pupil Premium Plus information
 Link the quality of the PEP with release of Pupil Premium Plus funding
 Provide additional home tuition and IT equipment when necessary
 Triangulate data predictions with further evidence such as work sampling
 Access exam stress counselling where necessary
 Provide support for Post 16 pathways
 Targeting tuition for particular students who are on the cusp of 4/5/C grades 

which will be additional to that received by the Pupil Premium Plus in school
 Complete home visits for particularly vulnerable students
 Provide intensive pastoral support alongside their school for high priority 

cases for those at risk of poor performance due to social and emotional 
difficulties. 

Page 122



27

In addition we are:

 Providing half termly Designated Teacher Forums, monthly social worker 
forums and termly foster carer forums to promote the educational outcomes of 
pupils by communicating key messages and training and to provide 
information advice and guidance for individual cases

 Supporting social care to minimise the change of school or college when there 
are placement changes

 Actively seeking to expand our team with professionals to build capacity and 
improve impact on outcomes for Children Looked After.

Summary of Analysis for all Key Stages

Key Headlines of Actions from All Data Collections

What are we doing as a result of this year’s performance?

 Increasing capacity of the Virtual School team through two full time staff 
members joining as Education Advisers for Primary and Post 16. A Secondary 
post vacancy should be filled from January 2018

 Virtual School Team continuing to attend PEP meetings to raise the level of 
challenge and accountability, particularly for those in Year 11

 Transition of EYFS into Year 1 tracked and supported
 Phonics progress for Year 1 and Year 2 tracked
 Every Year 6,7,10 and 11 LAC to have a PEP meeting in the Autumn term17
 All Year 10s and 11s and Year 6 being visited in their school by VS team
 Year 6 targeted in Autumn 17 or Spring 18
 Current Year 2 predictions and pupils targeted where necessary in Spring 

term 18
 Pupil Premium Plus Grant allocations and monitoring for impact in raising 

attainment and progress
 Raising expectations in PEP compliance across all aspects of the service. 

Linking provision of the Pupil Premium Plus funding with the quality of the 
PEP.

School Improvement Priorities

These are detailed in the Virtual School Improvement Plan which is updated at the 
start of every academic year. Priorities are identified and actions are detailed related 
to SMART targets which form the basis of the Virtual School’s work across the 
academic year.

The aim of this document is to promote the raising of educational outcomes for all of 
our Children Looked After.

Page 123



28

Key Priorities for 2016/2017 were

To improve achievement of all pupils by:

 Improving the attainment and progress of Children Looked After (CLA) to be 
in line with or above the national average outcomes for CLA

This key priority was achieved in all areas as evidenced in this report.

 Improving the attendance and reducing the number of fixed term exclusions of 
CLA to ensure that they are receiving the maximum entitlement of education

Attendance figures have improved this year, however the number of 
fixed term exclusions has not reduced due to specific cases mentioned 
in this report. 

 Raise the quality of the PEP meeting and PEP documentation as a key driver 
for improving pupil academic outcomes by supporting needs and raising 
expectations

This is always an area for development as pupils come into care, new 
social workers join the team and schools that are new to Thurrock 
processes, need support. This priority remains a key focus for 
improvement but PEP compliance for completion and quality has 
improved across this academic year.

 Improving systems of tracking, analysis and accountability to support 
educational outcomes for CLA.

Robust systems for tracking all pupils irrespective of placement location 
are in place. Accountability has been improved through the creation of 
the Virtual School Governing Body.

Allocation and Impact of the Pupil Premium

The management of the Pupil Premium Plus grant for Children Looked After is 
detailed in the DFE guidance Pupil premium grant 2014 to 2015: conditions of grant  
and Pupil premium: virtual school heads’ responsibilities. 

During this academic year a Pupil Premium Policy has been developed by the Virtual 
School and approved by the Virtual School Governing Body. This policy details the 
ideology and method behind allocation.

This information is shared with schools. The educational settings receive £1,500 
which is allocated over three terms. The Virtual School Headteacher tracks spending 
on a termly basis in line with the quality assurance process of PEPS. This tracking 
centres on how this money is raising the achievement of the child/young person and 
assesses if funds are being used appropriately. This process, alongside the PEP 

Page 124

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/pupil-premium-grant-2014-to-2015-conditions-of-grant
https://www.gov.uk/pupil-premium-virtual-school-heads-responsibilities


29

process is supporting the pupil to have targeted support and intervention which 
directly affects and plans for his/her academic and overall school achievement with a 
personalised approach. It is enabling the Virtual School to be updated on progress 
data and enables discussion with the school to centre on appropriate intervention. 
This system promotes accountability and improved dialogue in how to raise 
attainment and achievement and narrow the gap. [Separate Pupil Premium 
documentation is available on request]

The Virtual School top sliced £400 per pupil for the academic year and used this to 
provide centralised resources to support the most vulnerable in the cohort. 

For example:

 Education was provided for those Unaccompanied Asylum Seekers who could 
not access education. A tuition programme for 15 hours per week of English 
Spoken as an Other Language [ESOL] for a year was provided, including 
during the school holidays. The top slice funded £36,000 for this. This enabled 
pupils to move into college placements and learn key English and learning 
skills. 

 Additional tuition for Year 11 pupils was provided in English and maths and 
£20,000 was allocated for this. This supported pupils who achieve better 
GCSE grades and provide them with confidence and support for the exams.

 Provision of alternative provision for students at risk of permanent exclusion to 
enable them to access education.

 Provision of equipment to support learning for some students.
 Commissioning of education consultants to provide targeted support for 

schools and social workers to ensure high quality PEPs were in place.

Quality Assurance of Personal Education Plans 

The Personal Education Plan [PEP] is a key document to support the child’s/young 
person’s education. Where possible the Virtual School attends specific PEP 
meetings and particular emphasis has been made on key year groups for the 
academic year 2016/17. This is further detailed in the Roles and Functions of the 
Virtual School document. It is also important that the Virtual School attends PEP 
meetings for particularly vulnerable students or when a potential issue has been 
identified. For example, concern with progress. The Virtual School Headteacher 
[VSH/T] is responsible for Quality Assuring [QA] every PEP. During this process 
particular attention is made to progress data, school provision, support from the 
foster carer, the pupil’s views and the quality of educational targets that are set. If a 
PEP is judged to be of poor quality the Headteacher challenges the appropriate 
professional to ensure that this is rectified. The VSH/T keeps a tracking sheet of PEP 
compliance and notes down comments or actions as part of the QA process. The 
Directors Management Team asks for sample PEPs from all year groups as part of 
the QA process. The Virtual School has written a PEP procedure policy to ensure 
that all those with responsibility for the PEP have clear guidelines and expectations 
around this process. This has been approved by the Governors of the Virtual School 

Page 125



30

and is provided to schools, colleges and social workers to set expectations for the 
production of a high quality PEP.

Post 16 Update

The Virtual School supports pupils who have left Year 11 and are moving onto the 
next stage of their education. Pupils take a variety of paths either through level 1, 2 
or 3, FE or HE qualifications. Others combine apprenticeships with obtaining 
qualifications. Every pupil is supported appropriately to create the next step that is 
suitable for them. Conversations regarding post 16 pathways are discussed in Year 
10. Transition is discussed before the student leaves Year 11 and students are 
supported with applying for college positions and courses. After the students receive 
their qualifications they are further supported to apply for places again if they were 
unsuccessful with their original choice and all can access support from the Virtual 
School 16+ worker if necessary with activities such as applying for a bursary, 
receiving additional tuition, interventions and attendance at disruption meeting with 
colleges and employers. Further Education Personal Education Plans are put in 
place for every student, even those without an educational placement. The Virtual 
School works closely with the aftercare team to support pupils in Year 13 and 
beyond. In the Year 2016, 8 pupils are currently in university.

Not in Education Employment or Training [NEET]

The Virtual School closely monitors any post 16 young person who has CLA status 
and who is NEET. They are monitored fortnightly and the Post 16+ Support Worker 
works with the young person, social care, personal advisors in Thurrock, the 
Diversity in Apprenticeships team and local colleges and businesses to create the 
best possible opportunity for the young person to be placed in education, 
employment or training. Thurrock Council’s aim is to have no NEET Looked after 
Children. NEET data is provided to the Virtual School Governing Body every term as 
part of the Headteacher’s report. 

Support for Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children

There has been a substantial demand for the provision of education for 
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children [UASC]. The population figures of this 
group have increased dramatically over the past 2 years and there has been a high 
demand for providing education. The Virtual School has been proactive in working 
with the local college and additional Post 16 providers out of borough to devise 
bespoke English Studied as an Other Language [ESOL] provision. This has enabled 
our young people to be able to access pre-ESOL and ESOL courses across an 
academic year. This has been a huge success as prior to that there was no ESOL 
provision available in borough and limited availably out of borough in some 
authorities. Additionally the Virtual School have worked with Fleet Tuition services to 
provide ESOL group tuition. This originally begun as 5 hours per week, then it 
expanded to 10 hour due to demand and since September 2016 it increased to 15 

Page 126



31

hours per week. This was for students who were not able to access formal education 
due to the lack of availability of places or the pupils’ current stage of English. The 
impact of this has been substantial as it enabled UASC to access education and 
ultimately progress onto more academic Level 1 and 2 courses.

During the 2016/17 academic year the Virtual School have worked closely with the 
UASC team to support the educational outcomes of these pupils. The numbers of 
UASC pupils are decreasing due to the eastern region distributing arrangements 
which has meant that other boroughs are have taken responsibility for these young 
peoples. 

Virtual School Governing Body

The Virtual School Governing Body [GB] was formed in the autumn term 2016. Four 
meetings have been held over the academic year. The GB will continue to meet very 
term to discuss strategy for the Virtual School. The members of this GB 2016/17 
were:

Chair: R Patterson [Director of Children’s Services]

Vice Chair: R Edwardson [Head of Education]

Headteacher: K Pullen

In Borough School Representative: Dr S Asong [CEO The Stanford and Corringham 
Schools Trust]

Out of Borough School Representative: B Read [HT R J Mitchell Primary School]

Post 16 Education Representative: M Cekerevac [Student Services Manager 
Safeguarding and Pastoral for South Essex Colleges]

Social Care Representative: P Coke [Service Manager for CLA]

Social Care Representative: A Carter [Head of Social Care]

Observer: G Page [CLA Advisory Achievement Assistant]

For the academic year 17/18 S Murphy replaces A Carter as the post holder of Head 
of Social Care

The purpose of the Governing Body is to hold the VSHT to account and to ensure 
that clear and regular lines of reporting are in place. The VSHT prepares a range of 
documentation for the GB to approve and to question the strategy and decisions 
made by the VSHT. For example: attendance policy, PEP protocol, Pupil Premium 
Plus Policy.

In addition the VSHT reports to the Corporate Parenting Committee on a regular 
basis. 

Page 127



32

Additional Strategies to support the educational progress of Thurrock Children 
in Care

Working in Partnership with other Teams in Thurrock Council and out of 
borough councils

The Virtual School works with a range of teams within Thurrock to enable the best 
possible outcomes for our CLA. These include School Improvement and Inclusion, 
Social Care, Special Educational Needs including Educational Psychologists, 
Fostering, Health, Admissions and Education Welfare. This cohesive approach 
works together around the child/young person to create a supportive, knowledgeable 
level of service aimed at serving the best interest of the CLA.

The Virtual School also works with the relevant teams in other boroughs for our CLA 
who are placed out of borough.

Foster Carer Forums

These provide opportunities to share good practice, provide key messages and 
obtain valuable feedback and insight into the factors affecting the CLA. The VSHT 
has been meeting at Foster Carer support groups to provide key information about 
Pupil Premium Plus and Electronic Personal Education Plans. Foster carer forum 
meetings started in Spring Term 16 and will continue to happen once per term. 
These covered a range of topics including using EPEP. In addition the VSHT attends 
new foster carer forums and provides induction training.

Designated Teacher Forums

As with the Foster Carer forums, the aim of this is to disseminate key messages, 
improve lines of communication, foster good partnership working and discuss issues 
affecting our CLA in schools. These are held every half term by the Virtual School 
Head. 

General Support for Foster Carers and Designated Teachers

The Virtual School provides a range of telephone and face to face advice and 
support and prides itself on being able to deliver a good level of service. Our 
approachable manner enables us to have good relationships with these key 
professionals to enable us to work together for the best outcomes of our pupils.

Social Worker Training and Support

The Virtual School adopts a flexible and responsive approach to the support and 
training needs of our social workers. The Virtual School Head attends briefings and 
team meetings with social care to disseminate good practice. 

Page 128



33

Liaison with Schools

This is a vital part in supporting the CLA as the Virtual School works closely with in 
and out of borough schools to ensure that pupils are supported within their 
educational placement. We offer support and advice on a range of areas such as 
behaviour, raising attainment and narrowing the gap. The Virtual School provides 
challenge and makes schools accountable to their statutory duties to ensure that 
pupils are treated and supported appropriately to meet their varying needs. Part of 
this also includes providing training to school governors.

Advice and Guidance for previous CLA and adopted children

The Virtual School also provides advice and guidance for those pupils who were 
previously looked after. This would be particularly relevant for adopted children and 
their schools and families to ensure that their needs are appropriately supported.

Attendance at PEP Meetings

Wherever possible and if appropriate, the Virtual School attends PEP meetings to 
model good practice, raise accountability, monitor the pupils’ education and provision 
and ensure that the PEP process is thorough in supporting the CLA’s education. We 
endeavour to attend the first PEP for every new CLA pupil and attend PEP meetings 
for those pupils who may be experiencing difficulties in their learning.

Fleet Tuition Services

Many schools use tuition as part of their pupil premium spend. There are occasions 
when additional tuition is needed. The Virtual School commissions the services of 
Fleet Tuition. The One to One Tuition Programme for CLA was created to provide 
additional academic support for children who are not currently reaching their 
potential or may be missing school. Generally one-one tuition is used to help pupils 
who face academic barriers in any subject and the Virtual School works closely with 
schools, foster carers, social workers and the pupil to ensure that the right tuition is 
matched to needs. It is not possible to provide one-one tuition for every pupil and so 
this resource is targeted to suit needs and support requirements. 

Attendance Monitoring

Thurrock Virtual School commissions the services of an external provider called 
Looked After Call to monitor the attendance of all of our Children Looked After in and 
out of borough attending schools and colleges. All pupils are monitored on a daily 
basis. If pupils are not attending school an alert is created to ascertain where the 
pupil is and why they are not at school. This promotes the safeguarding of our pupils 
and promotes good attendance. It also enables the Virtual School to monitor any 
exclusions, attendance or punctuality issues. The Virtual School has a clear 
Attendance Policy which provides a rationale behind why attendance is given high 
priority and this can be read in conjunction with this report.

Page 129



34

Author of this report

Keeley Pullen BA [Hons] PGCE NPQH

Head Teacher of the Virtual School for Thurrock Children Looked After

Submitted to Governors 28th September 2017

Submitted to Corporate Parenting Committee 6th December 2017

Page 130



Work Programme

Committee: Corporate Parenting  Year: 2017/2018

Dates of Meetings: 07 June 2017, 06 September 2017, 06 December 2017, 07 March 2018

Topic Lead Officer Requested by Officer/Member

07 June 2017
Health of Looked After Children Report Paula Gregory/Andrews Osei Members

Virtual School Annual Report Keeley Pullen

Work Programme Democratic Services Officer 

06 September 2016
Placement Updates of Care Packages Paul Coke Members

Performance Dashboard Iqbal Vasa Officers

Work Programme Democratic Services Officer 

06 December 2017
Children in Care Council Update Officers

Performance Report Iqbal Vaza Officers

Virtual Headteacher Report Keeley Pullen Officers

Placement Update of Care Packages Andrews Osei Officers

Accommodation for Care Leavers Michele Lucas Officers

P
age 131

A
genda Item

 12



Annual Report of Fostering Andrews Osei Officers

IRO Annual Report Neale Laurie Officers 

Placement Commissioning Sue Green / Mark Livermore Officers 

Work Programme Democratic Services Officer 

07 March 2018
Placement Updates of Care Packages Paul Coke Members

Children in Care Council Update Officers

Performance Report Iqbal Vaza Officers

Report on CSE and Missing Children Claire Pascoe Officers

Education Employment and Training for 
Care Leavers 

Michele Lucas Officers

Adoption and Permanence Report Andrews Osei Officers

Placement Update of Care Packages Andrews Osei Officers

Out of Borough Placements Sheila Murphy Officers

Work Programme Democratic Services Officer 

P
age 132


	Agenda
	 
	2 Minutes
	6 Children's Social Care Performance
	7 Pilot Development of Head Start Housing for Care Leavers & Vulnerable Young People
	8 Children Looked After Placement Commissioning
	9 Information on Recent External Placements for Young People
	Appendix 1 - Information on Recent External Placements for Young People

	10 Annual Fostering Report  April 2016 - March 2017
	Appendix 1 - Annual Fostering Report  April 2016 - March 2017

	11 The Annual Report of the Virtual School Headteacher for Children Looked After - Academic Year 2016-2017
	Appendix 1- The Annual Report of the Virtual School Headteacher for Children Looked After - Academic Year 2016-2017

	12 Corportate Parenting Committee Work Programme

